Cooperative Diversity in CDMA Networks

Amr Mohamed Eid

A Thesis

in

The Department

of

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Applied Science at

Concordia University

Montrèal, Quèbec, Canada

July 2009 © Amr Mohamed Eid, 2009



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-63077-8 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-63077-8

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Abstract

Cooperative Diversity in CDMA Networks

Amr Mohamed Eid

Spatial diversity is one of the well known diversity methods used in combating fading channels. Recently, cooperative diversity has been widely studied in literature as a spatial diversity technique. Different from multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) systems, each user in the cooperative network is employed with a single transmit/receive antenna. In this thesis, we propose a cooperative diversity technique for asynchronous direct sequence code division multiple access (DS-CDMA) over frequency selective slow fading environment. First we assume the single cooperation relay case, where the bit-error-rate performance of the system is studied for both cases of perfect and imperfect inter-user channel (user-relay link). In order to mitigate the multi-access interference (MAI), decorrelator multiuser detectors are introduced at both relay and base station sides. Its effect on performance is studied and compared to the performance of the conventional matched filter receiver. Additionally, the performance of the system is studied and compared for different multi-path diversity scenarios in the inter-user and uplink channel. Furthermore, a coded multi-relay cooperation technique is proposed, where channel coding is introduced to minimize errors over the inter-user channel. All users are embedded with convolutional encoder and a Viterbi decoder. We study the performance of the coded system for different number of cooperating relays and over different multi-path diversity scenarios. Both simulation and analytical results are compared. Finally, we conclude that for a communication network to benefit from the cooperation diversity technique, a reliable communication link between active users and the cooperating relays should be secured (inter-user channel). We show that for an active user cooperating with V relays over a P-path frequency-selective fading channel, the expected diversity degree is P(V + 1). SAY: LO! MY WORSHIP AND MY SACRIFICE AND MY LIVING AND MY DYING ARE FOR ALLAH, LORD OF THE WORLDS. (162) HE HATH NO PARTNER. THIS AM I COMMANDED, AND I AM FIRST OF THOSE WHO SURRENDER (UNTO HIM). (163)

(Al-An'am 6: 162,163)

v

.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to all those who gave me the possibility to complete this thesis. I want to thank my supervisor, Prof. Walaa Hamouda, whose guidance and encouragement helped me at all time of research and study at Concordia University. This thesis would not have been possible without his support.

I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to my family who inspired, encouraged and fully supported me through all my life stages. My father, Mohamed M. Eid, with his successful life and engineering career was at all time an inspiration to me. My mother with her unflagging love has been always the major motivation in my whole life. My brother and sisters thanks for your continuous support. I would like to give my special thanks to my wife May whose patient love enabled me to complete this work.

My years of work at Invensys Process Systems was one of the main reasons that motivated me to join graduate school. I would like to thank my managers, Sameh Ezzat, and Michel Guillemette, for their friendship and technical guidance.

My research friends, Mohamed AlJerjawi, and Ayman Assra, thanks for your friendship and help in the past years. Finally, I would like to thank all my friends and colleagues (no matter where you are) who have helped and supported me through my entire life and career.

> Amr Mohamed Eid Montrèal, Canada July 2009

Contents

List of Figures							
A	Acronyms						
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Symbols	xv				
1	Introduction						
	1.1	Cooperative Diversity	3				
		1.1.1 Amplify-and-Forward	3				
		1.1.2 Decode-and-Forward	3				
	1.2	Motivation	5				
	1.3	Thesis Contributions	6				
	1.4	Thesis Outline	7				
2	Bac	kground	8				
	2.1	MIMO Networks	8				
		2.1.1 Bell-Labs Layered Space-Time (BLAST)	9				
		2.1.2 SINR Enhancement System	11				
	2.2	Cooperating Networks	13				

.

		2.2.1	Conventional Detector	14
		2.2.2	Decorrelator Detector	18
		2.2.3	Minimum Mean Square Error (MMSE) Detector	20
		2.2.4	Relay-Assisted Decorrelating Multiuser Detector (RAD-MUD)	26
		2.2.5	Successive Interference Cancelation (SIC) Detector	30
	2.3	Summ	ary	31
3	Uno	coded	Single Relay Cooperation	33
	3.1	Introd	uction	35
	3.2	Syster	n Model	36
		3.2.1	Proposed Diversity Scheme	36
		3.2.2	Multiuser Detector	38
	3.3	Perfor	mance Analysis	42
		3.3.1	Perfect Inter-user Channels	42
			3.3.1.1 Conditional Probability of Error	44
			3.3.1.2 Probability Density Function	45
			3.3.1.3 Probability of Bit Error	46
		3.3.2	Inter-User Channel Errors	48
			3.3.2.1 Probability of Bit Error	49
	3.4	Simula	ation Results	52
	3.5	Conclu	usion	56
4	Coc	led M	ulti-relay Cooperation	58
	4.1	Introd	uction	59
	4.2	Codec	l System	61

		4.2.1	Propose	d Diversity Scheme	61
		4.2.2	Multiuse	r Detector	65
	4.3	Perfor	mance Ar	alysis	68
		4.3.1	Perfect]	nter-user Channels	68
			4.3.1.1	Conditional Pairwise Probability	70
			4.3.1.2	Probability Density Function	71
			4.3.1.3	Pairwise Probability of Error	72
			4.3.1.4	Upper Bound Probability of Bit Error	73
		4.3.2	Inter-Us	er Channel Errors	74
		4.3.3	Average	Pairwise Probability	77
	4.4	Simula	ation Res	ılts	77
	4.5	Concl	usion		81
5	Cor	nclusio	ns and F	uture Work	84
	5.1	Concl	usions .		84
	5.2	Future	e Work .		86
Bi	bliog	graphy			87
Aj	ppen	dices			94

List of Figures

1.1	MIMO channel.	2
1.2	Amplify-and-forward cooperation method.	4
1.3	Decode-and-forward cooperation method	4
2.1	Multiple user detection.	9
2.2	Transmit strategy in MIMO networks.	10
2.3	MIMO-CDMA antenna system.	12
2.4	Conventional detector structure	14
2.5	Cooperation model.	15
2.6	Impact of MUI on the performance of cooperating networks [1]. \ldots	25
2.7	K users, V relays cooperative CDMA network	27
2.8	Performance of MMSE and RAD-MUD in cooperative networks [2]. $% \left[\left({{{\mathbf{x}}_{i}}} \right) \right) = \left({{{\mathbf{x}}_{i}}} \right)$.	29
3.1	First transmission period (single relay)	36
3.2	Second transmission period (single relay)	37
3.3	Cooperation timing diagram (single relay)	39
3.4	BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA network over	
	2-path frequency-selective slow fading channels.	53

3.5	BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA network over	
	2-path frequency-selective slow fading channels, for different inter-user	
	channel SNR.	54
3.6	BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA with DAF co-	
	operation as a function of the number of paths over frequency-selective	
	slow fading channels assuming perfect inter-user channels. \ldots .	55
3.7	BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA with DAF co-	
	operation as a function of the number of paths over frequency-selective	
	slow fading channels and considering errors in the inter-user channels.	57
4.1	First transmission phase (multi-relay).	62
4.2	Second transmission phase (multi-relay).	62
4.3	Data transmission rate for multi-relay cooperation.	64
4.4	Cooperation timing diagram (multi-relay).	65
4.5	BER performance for a 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA coded network	
	over 2 paths frequency-selective slow fading channels (1 relay cooper-	
	ation)	78
4.6	BER performance for a 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA coded network	
	over 2 paths frequency-selective slow fading channels (2 relays cooper-	
	ation)	79
4.7	BER performance for a 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA network over	
	2 paths frequency-selective slow fading channels (1 relay cooperation).	80

4.8	Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a func-	
	tion of the number of paths for perfect inter-user channels (1 relay	
	cooperation).	82
4.9	Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a function	
	of the number of paths for imperfect inter-user channels case (1 relay	
	cooperation).	82
4.10	Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a function	
	of the number of paths for perfect inter-user channels case (2 relays	
	cooperation).	83
4.11	Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a function	
	of the number of paths for imperfect inter-user channels case (2 relays	
	cooperation).	83

Acronyms

- AAF Amplify-and-forward.
- AWGN Additive white Gaussian noise.
- **BER** Bit error rate.
- BPSK Binary phase shift keying.
- DAF Decode-and-forward.
- **DS-CDMA** Direct sequence code division multiple access.
- FDMA Frequency-division multiple access.
- MAI Multi-access interference.
- MIMO Multiple-input multiple-output.
- MMSE Minimum mean square error.
- MRC Maximum ratio combining.
- **OFDM** Orthogonal frequency-division multiplexing.

RAD-MUD Relay-assisted decorrelating multiuser detector.

SIC Successive interference cancelation.

SINR Signal-to-interference plus noise ratio.

SNR Signal-to noise ratio.

TDMA Time-division multiple access.

List of Symbols

- K No. of users in the network.
- P No. of paths in the channel.
- L Size of the transmitted frame.
- V No. of cooperating relays.
- S_k Data bit of user k.
- C_k Spreading signature assigned to user k.
- R_c Convolutional code rate.
- T_b Bit period.
- T_c Chip period.
- τ_k User k's transmission delay.
- $\tau_{k,p}$ The delay of the p^{th} path of user k.

- E_{U_k} Energy received at the base station from user k.
- $E_{I_{kv}}\,$ Energy received at the relay v from user k.
- h_{kb}^{p} Fading coefficient for the uplink channel between user k and the base station b over the path p.
- h_{kv}^{p} Fading coefficient for the inter-user channel between user k and the relay v over the path p.
- H Fading coefficients matrix.
- **R** Cross correlation matrix.

Chapter 1

Introduction

With the continuous growth of wireless communication services, the performance of communication systems has always been one of the major points studied in literature. Channel fading is considered the main challenge in wireless communications. Signals affected by fading can suffer from severe loss of signal-to noise ratio (SNR) in case of deep fade. Fading channels can be categorized into slow and fast fading, or flat and frequency-selective fading depending on the coherence time or coherence bandwidth of the channel, respectively.

Diversity is one of the most important methods used in combating different types of fading channels. Time diversity, frequency diversity and space diversity are the main forms of diversity. Time diversity is achieved by sending replicas of the same signal over independent fading channels during different time slots. The difference between the time slots should be equal or more than the coherence time of the channel [3]. Frequency Diversity is another diversity method where the same signal is sent over separate frequency bands. The different frequency bands should be larger than the coherence bandwidth of the channel. Both time and frequency diversity methods can be integrated with space diversity in order to gain higher diversity degrees and mitigate the fading effect on the system performance. Another common form of diversity is spatial, where it can be achieved by transmitting copies of the signal to the receiver over different spatial channels. Multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) is one of the widely used schemes in space diversity, where multiple antennas are used to transmit and/or receive the desired signal [4], [5]. A MIMO system with *n*-transmit and *n*-receive antennas is shown in Fig. 1.1. It is known that full diversity gain can be achieved using MIMO techniques [6]; however, embedding multiple antennas at the transmitter or the receiver can sometimes be expensive.



Figure 1.1: MIMO channel.

1.1 Cooperative Diversity

As an alternative to collocated antennas, cooperative diversity systems allow the receiver to see independent versions of information which yields to spatial diversity and/or coding gain compared to non-cooperative systems [7]. It was first introduced in [8], [9]. It has been shown that cooperative diversity can offer these gains by introducing both temporal and spatial correlation into the transmitted signals from different relays without increasing the total transmitted power. The cooperation among users can, in general, be categorized into two main methods; amplify-and-forward (AAF), and decode-and-forward (DAF).

1.1.1 Amplify-and-Forward

The AAF cooperating method is based mainly on the idea of forwarding an amplified version of the data over different spatial channels (Fig. 1.2). First, the source will start transmitting its own data to the destination and the relay, then the relay will amplify the received noisy version of the data and re-transmits it to the destination. Finally, the destination receives two independent noisy versions of the same data, and benefits from space diversity.

1.1.2 Decode-and-Forward

Different from AAF, the relays cooperating using DAF method decode the received signal from the source before re-transmitting it to the destination (Fig. 1.3). In other words, during the first transmission time the source transmits its own data to the destination and the relay, then in the second transmission time, the relay decodes the





Figure 1.2: Amplify-and-forward cooperation method.



Figure 1.3: Decode-and-forward cooperation method.

1.2 Motivation

It was proved that the MIMO technique is an efficient technique used to gain transmit diversity benefits on cellular base stations. However, in some cases implementing this technique may not be practical. Cost, size and limitation of hardware can be considered as major obstacles in the way of implementing MIMO in wireless networks. Employing single transmit-receive antennas, cooperative diversity can be considered as the alternative technique that will be used in order to overcome the limitation of MIMO.

The performance of the cooperative networks was widely studied in literature. In [1], the authors combined the cooperative diversity with DS-CDMA using nonorthogonal codes for synchronous networks over flat fading channels, where each user is assigned a spreading signature which is used in modulating the transmitted data. Motivated by [1], we propose an asynchronous DS-CDMA network using cooperative diversity over the more realistic case of frequency-selective slow fading channels. Studying the impact of multiuser access interference (MAI) on the system performance, we introduce decorrelator multiuser detectors to the system, and we compare the performance of the decorrelator detectors to that of the conventional receiver. Moreover, we study the impact of the inter-user channel's condition on the system where we introduce channel coding in order to improve the inter-user channel reliability.

The main objective of this thesis is to design a cooperative diversity scheme for asynchronous DS-CDMA networks that can improve the system performance and provide full diversity gain.

1.3 Thesis Contributions

The main contributions of the thesis can be summarized as follow:

- 1. We propose a single-relay cooperating system for asynchronous DS-CDMA networks over frequency-selective slow fading channels using non-orthogonal codes.
- 2. Decorrelator multiuser detectors are introduced to the proposed system in order to mitigate the multiuser access interference (MAI). The performance of the system using decorrelator detectors is compared to the case of conventional matched filter showing the impact of MAI on the overall system performance.
- 3. An exact expression for probability of bit error for the perfect and imperfect inter-user channel cases for the uncoded system is evaluated and compared to numerical results for different multipath diversity scenarios.
- 4. A coded multi-relay cooperating system is introduced. In this system, we employ channel coding in the cooperating network in order to improve the performance over the uplink and inter-user channels. We evaluate the upper bound performance of the proposed system for the multi-relay case. We compare the evaluated formulas to the numerical results for different number of cooperating relays and multipath diversity scenarios. We show that the diversity gain of the system will depend mainly on the number of cooperating relays per active source.

1.4 Thesis Outline

The organization of the thesis is as follow: In chapter 2, different DS-CDMA MIMO, and cooperative networks are reviewed, showing the effect of MAI on the system performance, and employing different mitigation methods.

We propose a single-relay DS-CDMA cooperative network over frequency-selective slow fading channels in chapter 3. The performance of the DAF cooperative method is studied for asynchronous communication and using non-orthogonal spreading codes. We analyze mathematically the system's performance, providing an exact formula for the probability of bit error for both cases of perfect and imperfect inter-user channels. We compare the system performance with the numerical results for different number of channel paths.

In chapter 4, we introduce convolutional codes to a multi-relay cooperative network. We study the performance of the system over frequency-selective slow fading channels, and for asynchronous communication. We present an exact formula for the upper bound of the system performance, and compare it with numerical results for different number of cooperating relays and channel paths.

Finally, chapter 5 presents the thesis conclusions and the suggested future works.

Chapter 2

Background

Multiple-access systems have become very popular recently as a result of the rapid development in the area of wireless communications. Frequency-division multiple-access (FDMA), time-division multiple-access (TDMA) and code-division multiple-access (CDMA) are several ways of data multiplexing using orthogonal frequency bands, orthogonal time slots or orthogonal codes respectively [3]. Using DS-CDMA, each user's data is spread using a unique spreading code. Because of the non-orthogonality of the codes, MAI will be present, resulting in degradation on the overall system performance. Interference suppression methods proposed in [10] can be used to mitigate the effects of such MAI.

2.1 MIMO Networks

In this section we will focus on the implementation of MIMO systems using nonorthogonal CDMA codes. We will show the effect of multiple-access interference on the system and an overview on mitigation methods is presented.



Figure 2.1: Multiple user detection.

2.1.1 Bell-Labs Layered Space-Time (BLAST)

The architecture of the Bell-labs layered space-time was first introduced in [11]. Using multiple antennas, BLAST takes advantage of spatial multiplexing in order to mitigate fading effects and achieve higher data rates. Vertical (V)-BLAST, horizontal (H)-BLAST, and diagonal (D)-BLAST are different types of BLAST.

For MIMO-CDMA networks, Huang *et. al.* [12] studied the down-link communication in a V-BLAST multiple transmit-receive antennas system. They proposed a K-user system with A_r receive antennas at each user side, and base station with A_t transmit antennas indicated by $m = 1, \dots, A_t$. Each user's high data rate stream is split into G equal rate substreams, which is spread using spreading signatures of length N. In order to achieve transmit diversity, each substream will be transmitted from M_t transmit antennas where $M_t < A_t$. Two examples for the transmission strategies are shown in Fig. 2.2, where each row m represents a transmit antenna and columns represent different spreading code. In Fig. 2.2(a), it is shown that ten substreams G are spread using two different spreading codes, and transmit from five different transmission antennas with each substream sent only once with transmit diversity ($M_t = 1$). While in Fig. 2.2(b), it is shown that the transmit diversity $M_t = 2$, as each substream is sent twice using different spreading codes and from a different transmit antenna.



Figure 2.2: Transmit strategy in MIMO networks.

Assuming P multipath channel, the received signal model at antenna a_r in vector format can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{r}_{a_r} = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{H}_{a_r}\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{n}_{a_r},\tag{2.1}$$

where **C** is the $N \times KGM_tP$ spreading code matrix, \mathbf{H}_{a_r} is the channel coefficients matrix with dimensions $KGM_tP \times KG$, **S** is the KG data vector, and \mathbf{n}_{a_r} is additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) vector. The received signal passes through a bank of filters matched to the P multipath replicas of the KG spreading codes. Using the conjugate of the channel coefficients, the output of the matched filters is weighted and summed. Finally, the sufficient statistic vector \mathbf{y} can be written as [12]

$$\mathbf{y} = \sum_{a_r=1}^{A_r} \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \mathbf{H}_{a_r}^H \mathbf{C}^T \mathbf{C} \mathbf{H}_{a_r}^H \right\} \mathbf{S} + \sum_{a_r=1}^{A_r} \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \mathbf{H}_{a_r}^H \mathbf{C}^T \mathbf{n}_{a_r} \right\}$$
$$= \mathbf{RS} + \mathbf{n}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where Re{.} donates the real part, **R** is the space-time code correlation matrix with dimensions of $KG \times KG$, and it can be shown as

$$\mathbf{R} = \sum_{a_r=1}^{A_r} \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \mathbf{H}_{a_r}^H \mathbf{C}^T \mathbf{C} \mathbf{H}_{a_r}^H \right\}.$$
(2.3)

At the end of the detection process, vector **y** will pass through a V-BLAST detector to give [12]

$$\mathbf{z} = \left[\left(\mathbf{R}^{-1} \right)_{[1:A_t, 1:A_t]} \right]^{-1} \left[\mathbf{R}^{-1} \mathbf{y} \right]_{[1:A_t]}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where $[\mathbf{R}^{-1}\mathbf{y}]_{[1:A_t]}$ is the first A_t elements of the vector $\mathbf{R}^{-1}\mathbf{y}$, and $(\mathbf{R}^{-1})_{[1:A_t,1:A_t]}$ is the upper left $A_t \times A_t$ submatrix of \mathbf{R}^{-1} .

2.1.2 SINR Enhancement System

In [13], the authors studied the improvement of the signal-to-interference plus noise ratio (SINR) in the down-link of MIMO-CDMA networks over frequency-selective fading channels. As shown in Fig. 2.3, they proposed a cellular network with base station (BS) equipped with M_t transmit antennas, and a mobile station (MS) equipped with M_r receive antennas. At the base station, the transmitted signal passes through a L_t tap transmit filter with complex response vector $\mathbf{V}_m^{(k)}$, while at the mobile station, the received signal passes through a L_r tap receiver filter with complex response vector $\mathbf{U}_n^{(k)}$.



Figure 2.3: MIMO-CDMA antenna system.

Assuming that user k' is the desired user, it was shown in [13] that the decision statistic can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{X}^{(k')} = \mathbf{n}^{(k')} + \operatorname{Re}\left\{\mathbf{U}^{(k')H} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \mathbf{R}^{(k',k)} \mathbf{H}^{(k')} \mathbf{V}^{(k')}\right\},$$
(2.5)

where $\mathbf{n}^{(k')}$ is the AWGN vector, $\mathbf{R}^{(k',k)}$ is the cross correlation matrix between user k' and user k, $\mathbf{H}^{(k')}$ is the channel coefficients matrix, $\mathbf{U}^{(k')} = [\mathbf{U}_1^{(k)T}, \cdots, \mathbf{U}_{M_r}^{(k)T}]^T$, and $\mathbf{V}^{(k')} = [\mathbf{V}_1^{(k)T}, \cdots, \mathbf{V}_{M_t}^{(k)T}]^T$. Equation (2.5) can be simplified and re-written as

$$\mathcal{X}^{(k')} = \mathcal{D}^{(k')} + \mathcal{S}^{(k')} + \mathcal{A}^{(k')} + \eta^{(k')}, \qquad (2.6)$$

with $\eta^{(k')}$ representing the noise term, $\mathcal{D}^{(k')}$ the desired signal, $\mathcal{S}^{(k')}$ the self interference due to the multipath channel, and $\mathcal{A}^{(k')}$ is the multiple-access interference. Hence, the signal-to-interference plus noise ratio (SINR) of user k' can be written as

SINR^(k') =
$$\frac{\mathcal{D}^{(k')}}{var(\mathcal{S}^{(k')}) + var(\mathcal{A}^{(k')}) + var(\eta^{(k')})}$$
. (2.7)

In order to maximize the SINR at the receiver, the transmit vector $\mathbf{V}^{(k)}$ and the receive vector $\mathbf{U}^{(k)}$ must be optimized as follow [13]

$$\left(\mathbf{V}^{(k)}, \mathbf{U}^{(k)}\right)_{opt} = arg_{||\mathbf{V}^{(k)}||=1, ||\mathbf{U}^{(k)}||=1} max \left\{ \text{SINR}^{(k)} \right\}.$$
(2.8)

Moreover, the authors in [13] compared the performance of the proposed system (SINR enhancement system) with the performance of the conventional rake receiver (system with one transmit antenna at the BS and one receive antenna at the MS with a rake receiver using maximum ratio combining (MRC) scheme), and the performance of the smart antenna rake system (system with one transmit antenna at the BS and multiple receive antennas at the MS with rake receiver). As concluded in [13], the SINR enhancement system showed a large improvement in the system performance when compared to the conventional rake system and the smart antenna rake system for different number of transmit/receive antennas.

2.2 Cooperating Networks

An overview on DS-CDMA cooperating networks is presented in this section. We will explore different cooperating network schemes that were introduced previously in literature. Also we will look at various MAI mitigation schemes employed in cooperating networks.

2.2.1 Conventional Detector

For K-user CDMA system, the conventional detector consists of a bank of K filters matched to the users' signatures. The filters are followed by samplers, which are used to sample the output of the filters at the end of every bit duration T_b . As shown in Fig. 2.4, the received signal first passes through the matched filters, the output is then sampled every bit time yielding to a soft estimate of the transmitted data. Finally, a hard decision is taken relying on the signal's sign. One of the main disadvantages of the conventional detector is due to MAI, which has a severe impact on the detector's performance in case of non-orthogonal users' signatures.



Figure 2.4: Conventional detector structure.

Considering DAF cooperative technique, Sendonaris *et. al.* [14], [15] studied the performance of an orthogonal CDMA implementation of a synchronous cooperating network. In their scheme, each mobile user receives a noisy version of its partner's signal, combines it with its own data and forwards it to the base station as shown in Fig.

2.5. The base station then receives the sum of the signals from both users. Assuming possible echo cancelation, the received signals can be illustrated mathematically as

$$Y_0(t) = h_{10}X_1(t) + h_{20}X_2(t) + n_0(t)$$
(2.9)

$$Y_1(t) = h_{21}X_2(t) + n_1(t)$$
(2.10)

$$Y_2(t) = h_{12}X_1(t) + n_2(t), \qquad (2.11)$$

where $Y_0(t), Y_1(t), Y_2(t)$ represent the received signals at the base station, user 1 and user 2, respectively, X_i is the user's *i* transmitted data, h_{ij} is the fading channel coefficients (assuming that $h_{ij} = h_{ji}$) and n_i is the additive noise.



Figure 2.5: Cooperation model.

Using orthogonal spreading codes and assuming the coherence time L = 3, the authors in [14] showed that for a non-cooperative case and during three successive periods, the two cooperating users would transmit

$$X_{1}(t) = a_{1}S_{1}^{(1)}C_{1}(t), a_{1}S_{1}^{(2)}C_{1}(t), a_{1}S_{1}^{(3)}C_{1}(t)$$

$$X_{2}(t) = a_{2}S_{2}^{(1)}C_{2}(t), a_{2}S_{2}^{(2)}C_{2}(t), a_{2}S_{2}^{(3)}C_{2}(t), \qquad (2.12)$$

where $S_j^{(i)}$ is the *i*th bit of user *j*, $C_j(t)$ is user's *j* spreading code, and a_i is the power allocated to each transmitted bit. While in the cooperation scheme, the transmitted signal during the three periods will be

$$X_{1}(t) = a_{11}S_{1}^{(1)}C_{1}(t), a_{12}S_{1}^{(2)}C_{1}(t), a_{13}S_{1}^{(2)}C_{1}(t) + a_{24}\hat{S}_{2}^{(2)}C_{2}(t)$$

$$X_{2}(t) = a_{21}S_{2}^{(1)}C_{2}(t), a_{22}S_{2}^{(2)}C_{2}(t), a_{23}\hat{S}_{1}^{(2)}C_{1}(t) + a_{24}S_{2}^{(2)}C_{2}(t), \qquad (2.13)$$

where \hat{S}_{j}^{i} is the estimate of S_{j}^{i} , and a_{ji} is the factor that controls the power allocation for the transmitted bits. As one can realize from (2.13), the transmitting users use period one in order to transmit its own data to the base station, while on the second period users send its data to the base station and the cooperating partner. After receiving the partner's data, each user takes a hard decision on the received data and combines it with its own data during the third period to build a cooperative signal.

Comparing data rates of the non-cooperative and cooperative cases, users during the second and third periods transmit the same data bit. This means that each user will be able to transmit two data bits every three transmitting periods, while in the non-cooperative case users will be able to send three new data bits during the three periods. Taking into consideration the performance benefits of the cooperation scheme, the data rate loss can be disregarded.

The case shown by (2.13) can be generalized to L periods, where the two cooperating users will use $2L_c$ periods for cooperation, where the value of L_c varies in the range of $[0, \frac{L}{2}]$. The remaining $L_n = L - 2L_c$ will be used to send a non-cooperative data. This means that for the non-cooperative case $L_c = 0$, while for the fully cooperative case $L_c = \frac{L}{2}$. The $2L_c$ cooperation periods will be organized as follow: odd periods are used to send user's own data to the partner and base station while during the even periods, users send the cooperated signal.

Studying the performance of the cooperation scheme and focusing on user one, it is shown in [15] that during the $L - 2L_c$ non-cooperative periods, user one sends $\mathbf{X}_1 = a_{11}S_1C_1$, which is received at the base station as $\mathbf{Y}_0 = h_{10}\mathbf{X}_1 + h_{20}\mathbf{X}_2 + \mathbf{n}_0$. The estimate of user one's bit at base station is $\hat{S}_1 = \operatorname{sgn}(h_{10}a_{11}S_1 + n_0)$, and the probability of bit error can be expressed as [15]

$$P_{e_1} = Q\left(h_{10}a_{11}\frac{\sqrt{N_c}}{\sigma_0}\right),$$
(2.14)

where N_c is the spreading gain, and σ_0^2 is the noise variance. During the $2L_c$ cooperative periods, each user will send its own data to its partner and the base station. The signal sent by user one can be expressed as $\mathbf{X}_1 = a_{12}S_1C_1$, which is received at the partner as $\mathbf{Y}_1 = h_{12}\mathbf{X}_1 + \mathbf{n}_1$. By forming a hard decision on the received signal, the probability of bit error at the partner side can be shown as [15]

$$P_{e_{12}} = Q\left(h_{12}a_{12}\frac{\sqrt{N_c}}{\sigma_1}\right).$$
 (2.15)

The signal received at the base station can be expressed as $\mathbf{Y}_0^{odd} = h_{10}\mathbf{X}_1 + h_{20}\mathbf{X}_2 + \mathbf{n}_0^{odd}$. In contrast, the base station forms a soft estimate of the desired bit which is then combined with the signal received during the even periods to form the final decision statistic. The signal transmitted by the users in the even periods can be shown as

$$\mathbf{X}_1 = a_{13}S_1C_1 + a_{14}\hat{S}_2C_2$$

$$\mathbf{X}_2 = a_{23}\hat{S}_1C_1 + a_{24}S_2C_2, \tag{2.16}$$

and the received signal at the base station $\mathbf{Y}_0^{even} = h_{10}\mathbf{X}_1 + h_{20}\mathbf{X}_2 + \mathbf{n}_0^{even}$. Now if we consider the following suboptimal detector,

$$\hat{b}_1 = \operatorname{sgn}([h_{10}a_{12} \quad \lambda(h_{10}a_{13} + h_{20}a_{23})])$$
 (2.17)

where λ represents the base station confidence in the decision taken by the partner [15]. In case of perfect inter-user channel ($P_{e_{12}} = 0$), the value of $\lambda = 1$, while as the inter-user channel becomes more unreliable the value of λ will decrease to zero. Using this suboptimal receiver, the probability of bit error is given by [15]

$$P_{e_2} = (1 - P_{e_{12}})Q\left(\frac{v_{\lambda}^T v_1}{\sqrt{v_{\lambda}^T v_{\lambda}}}\right) + P_{e_{12}}Q\left(\frac{v_{\lambda}^T v_2}{\sqrt{v_{\lambda}^T v_{\lambda}}}\right), \qquad (2.18)$$

where $v_{\lambda} = [h_{10}a_{12} \quad \lambda(h_{10}a_{13} + h_{20}a_{23})]^T$, $v_1 = [h_{10}a_{12} \quad (h_{10}a_{13} + h_{20}a_{23})]^T \left(\frac{\sqrt{N_c}}{\sigma_0}\right)$, and $v_2 = [h_{10}a_{12} \quad (h_{10}a_{13} - h_{20}a_{23})]^T \left(\frac{\sqrt{N_c}}{\sigma_0}\right)$.

2.2.2 Decorrelator Detector

In order to overcome the impact of MAI on the conventional detector performance, the inverse of cross correlation matrix \mathbf{R}^{-1} is applied to the output of the matched filters defining the so called decorrelator multiuser detector. The main advantage of the decorrelator detector is the ability to suppress MAI, which provides a significant performance gain over the conventional detector.

In [16], the impact of non-orthogonality and asynchronous communications in flatfading channels for a CDMA system that employs DAF cooperation technique was studied. In [16] the set S = K is the set of all users of the network, the set C = V represents the cooperating users $C \subset S$, and set $\mathcal{N} = K - V$ is the set of non-cooperating users. Each user is assigned a non-orthogonal spreading code. During the first time interval, each user k will send its information using its own code. In the second time interval, all the relays in set C that are capable to decode user k information, will decode and forward the information to the base station asynchronously.

The received signal at the base station from K users with V cooperating users and V - 1 relays can be expressed as

$$r(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{V} \sum_{l=1}^{V-1} \sum_{i=0}^{L-1} S_{l,k}[i]h_l C_k(t - iT_s - \tau_l) + \sum_{k=V+1}^{K} \sum_{i=0}^{L-1} S_{k,k}[i]h_k C_k(t - iT_s - \tau_k) + n(t),$$
(2.19)

where L is the block length, T_s is the symbol period, n(t) is the additive Gaussian noise, C_k is the spreading code assigned to user k, h_l is the fading coefficient, and $S_{l,k}[i]$ is the information bit of user k transmitted by relay l. The received signal then passes through bank of filters that are matched to the delayed versions of the spreading codes, the output of the matched filters can be written in vector format as

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{R}\mathbf{H}^H\mathbf{S} + \mathbf{n},\tag{2.20}$$

with \mathbf{H} represents the channel coefficients diagonal matrix, \mathbf{R} is the cross correlation matrix, \mathbf{S} is the data vector, and \mathbf{n} is the noise vector. Applying the received signal \mathbf{r} to a decorrelator detector, yields to

$$\mathbf{y} = (\mathbf{H}\mathbf{R})^{-1}\mathbf{r} + \tilde{\mathbf{n}},\tag{2.21}$$

where $\tilde{\mathbf{n}}$ is the additive noise vector with zero mean and covariance $N_0 \mathbf{R}^{-1}$.

In [16] the outage probability of the system was analyzed, where an exact expression for underloaded CDMA uplink, fully-loaded CDMA uplink, and overloaded CDMA uplink are obtained. From the major weakness of the decorrelator detector is the noise enhancement caused by applying the inverse of cross correlation \mathbf{R}^{-1} to the noise term as can be seen in (2.21).

2.2.3 Minimum Mean Square Error (MMSE) Detector

The MMSE multiuser detector applies a modified inverse of the cross correlation matrix to the output of the matched filters. Assuming that \mathbf{Y} is the vector representing the output of the matched filters, then the output of the MMSE detector can be written as $\mathbf{Z} = W_{\text{MMSE}}\mathbf{Y}$, where W_{MMSE} is the matrix needed to minimize the MSE between the transmitted data and the output of the detector. It can be shown that [17] $W_{\text{MMSE}} = [\mathbf{R} + \sigma_n^2 \mathbf{A}^{-2}]^{-1}$, where \mathbf{R} is the cross correlation matrix, σ_n^2 is the AWGN variance, and \mathbf{A} is the signal amplitude matrix. In addition to the interference cancelation, the MMSE detector takes the background noise into consideration, which gives it the advantage to deliver a better performance compared to the decorrelator detector.

Employing non-orthogonal spreading codes, Venturino *et. al.* [1] investigated the performance of cooperative networks based on synchronous DS-CDMA, and using MMSE detector. In their work, they considered both DAF and AAF in cases of perfectly and partially known channel conditions. All channels are assumed to be frequency non-selective, also reciprocity of the channel is assumed. The authors assumed the cooperation takes place in two transmission phases. First, during the odd time intervals each user transmits its own data to its partner and to the base station. Then, each partner forms an estimate for the received signal and starts
forwarding it to the base station in the even intervals.

Assume K-user network, where $\mathcal{F} = (1, 2, \dots, V)$ is the subset of users that are welling to cooperate. Let $[k, f(k)]\epsilon \mathcal{F}$ be two cooperating partners, the received signal during the odd time interval at user $v\epsilon \mathcal{F}$ can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{r}_{v}(2i-1) = \sum_{k=1,k\neq v}^{V} \sqrt{(2-\rho_{k})} h_{k,v} C_{k} S_{k}(i) + \sum_{k=V+1}^{K} h_{k,v} C_{k} x_{k}(2i-1) + \mathbf{n}_{v}(2i-1), \quad (2.22)$$

where C_k represents the signature of user k received at user v over the fading channel $h_{k,v}$ and with processing gain N, $S_k(i)$ is the symbol sent by cooperating user k, while $x_k(i)$ is the symbol of the non-cooperative users, and $\rho_k \epsilon[0, 2]$ is the factor that controls the power allocation during the two cooperating time intervals, $\mathbf{n}_v(2i-1)$ is the AWGN vector. The received signal at the base station during the even time intervals can be represented as

$$r_0(2i) = \sum_{k=1}^{V} \sqrt{\rho_{f(k)}} h_{f(k),0} C_{f(k)} \tilde{S}_k(i) + \sum_{k=V+1}^{K} h_{k,0} C_k x_k(2i) + \mathbf{n}_0(2i), \qquad (2.23)$$

where $\mathbf{n}_0(2i)$ is the AWGN vector, $\tilde{S}_k(i)$ is the estimate of $S_k(i)$. For the DAF technique, the estimate taken by the partner is a hard estimate, on the contrary a soft estimate is taken when using AAF technique.

Studying the performance at the relay side, assuming that f(q) is the terminal of interest and using DAF technique, the output of the MMSE receiver can be written as [1]

$$\mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)} = \mathbf{C}_{f(q)}^{-1} \mathbf{s}_{q,f(q)}$$

= $\sum_{k=1,k \neq f(q)}^{K} \mathbf{s}_{k,f(q)} \mathbf{s}_{k,f(q)}^{H} + \mathbf{n}_{f(q)} \mathbf{I}_{N}$ (2.24)

with $\mathbf{C}_{f(q)} = E[\mathbf{r}_{f(q)}(2i-1)\mathbf{r}_{f(q)}(2i-1)^{H}], \mathbf{I}_{N}$ is $N \times N$ identity matrix, $\mathbf{s}_{k,f(q)} =$

 $h_{k,f(q)}\mathbf{C}_k$, and the decoded symbol to be relayed can be expressed as

$$\tilde{S}_k(i) = (\operatorname{sgn}[\operatorname{Re}\{\xi\}] + j\operatorname{sgn}[\operatorname{Im}\{\xi\}])/\sqrt{2}, \quad i = 1, \cdots, L$$
(2.25)

where $\xi = \mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)}^{H} \mathbf{r}_{f(q)}(2i-1)$. The probability of error conditioned on the fading channel, h, is equivalent to [1]

$$P_{q,f(q)}\left(h_{f(q)}\right) = Q\left(\sqrt{\mathrm{SINR}_{q,f(q)}(h_{f(q)})}\right),\tag{2.26}$$

where

$$\operatorname{SINR}_{q,f(q)}(h_{f(q)}) = \frac{E[\operatorname{Re}\{\xi\} |\operatorname{Re}\{S_q(i)\}]^2}{\operatorname{Var}[\operatorname{Re}\{\xi\} |\operatorname{Re}\{S_q(i)\}]} \\ = \frac{\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re}\left[\mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)}^H \mathbf{s}_{q,f(q)}\right]^2}{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1, k \neq q, f(q)}^{K} \left|\mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)}^H \mathbf{s}_{k,f(q)}\right|^2 + \frac{\mathcal{N}_{f(q)}}{2} ||\mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)}||^2}.$$
(2.27)

For the AAF technique, the soft estimate formed by the partner and forwarded to the base station on the even time intervals can be expressed as

$$\tilde{S}_{q}(i) = \frac{\mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)}^{H}\mathbf{r}_{f(q)}(2i-1)}{G_{f(q)}} = \underbrace{\psi_{q,f(q)}S_{q}(i)}_{Useful \ Signal} + \underbrace{\sum_{k=1,k\neq q,f(q)}^{V}\psi_{k,f(q)}S_{k}(i)}_{Residual \ Interference} + \underbrace{\sum_{k=V+1}^{K}\psi_{k,f(q)}x_{k}(2i-1) + v_{f(q)}(2i-1)(2.28)}_{Filtered \ Noise}$$

where $\psi_{k,f(q)} = \frac{\mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)}^{H}\mathbf{s}_{k,f(q)}}{G_{f(q)}}$, $v_{f(q)}(2i-1) = \frac{\mathbf{m}_{q,f(q)}^{H}\mathbf{n}_{f(q)}(2i-1)}{G_{f(q)}}$, and $G_{f(q)}$ is a power normalization factor.

At the end of the partner transmission, the base station combines both signals received during the two transmission intervals. Using DAF technique, the combined received signal will be equivalent to

$$\mathbf{r}(i) = \sum_{k=1}^{V} \mathbf{H}_{k} \mathbf{b}_{k}(i) + \sum_{k=V+1}^{K} \mathbf{h}_{k} x_{k}(2i) + \mathbf{n}(i)$$
(2.29)

where $\mathbf{H}_{k} = [\mathbf{h}_{k}^{(1)}, \mathbf{h}_{f(k)}^{(2)}], \mathbf{h}_{k}^{(1)} = [\mathbf{s}_{k,0}, \mathbf{0}_{N}]^{T}, \mathbf{h}_{k}^{(2)} = [\mathbf{0}_{N}, \mathbf{s}_{k,0}]^{T}, \mathbf{S}_{k}(i) = [S_{k}(i), \tilde{S}_{k}(i)]^{T},$ and assuming that $x_{k}(2i) = x_{k}(2i-1)$. It can be shown that the decision statistic is equivalent to [1]

$$\xi = \mathbf{m}_{q}^{H} \mathbf{r}(i) = \mathbf{m}_{q}^{H} \left[\mathbf{h}_{q}^{(1)} + \delta_{q}(i) \mathbf{h}_{f(q)}^{(2)} \right] S_{q}(i) + \sum_{k=1, k \neq q}^{V} \mathbf{m}_{q}^{H} \mathbf{H}_{k} \mathbf{S}_{k}(i) + \sum_{k=V+1}^{K} \mathbf{m}_{q}^{H} \mathbf{h}_{k} \mathbf{x}_{k}(2i) + \mathbf{m}_{q}^{H} \mathbf{n}(i), \quad (2.30)$$

where $\delta_q(i)$ is a random variable. Assuming that the interference is Gaussian distributed, the conditional bit-error rate (BER) can be expressed as [1]

$$P_q(h) = \sum_{\lambda \in \{\pm 1, \pm j\}} P_r\{\delta_q(i) = \lambda\} Q\left(\sqrt{\text{SINR}_q(h, \lambda)}\right)$$
(2.31)

with

$$\operatorname{SINR}_{q}(h,\lambda) = \frac{\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Re}\left[\mathbf{m}_{q}^{H}\left(\mathbf{h}_{q}^{(1)} + \lambda\mathbf{h}_{f(q)}^{(2)}\right)\right]^{2}}{\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Im}\left[\mathbf{m}_{q}^{H}\left(\mathbf{h}_{q}^{(1)} + \lambda\mathbf{h}_{f(q)}^{(2)}\right)\right]^{2} + \phi + ||\mathbf{m}_{q}||^{2}\frac{N}{2}},$$
(2.32)

and

$$P_{r}\{\delta_{q}(i) = 1\} = 1 - \left\{2P_{q,f(q)}(h_{f(q)}) - \left[P_{q,f(q)}(h_{f(q)})\right]^{2}\right\}$$

$$P_{r}\{\delta_{q}(i) = -1\} = \left[P_{q,f(q)}(h_{f(q)})\right]^{2}$$

$$P_{r}\{\delta_{q}(i) = \pm j\} = P_{q,f(q)}(h_{f(q)})\left[1 - P_{q,f(q)}(h_{f(q)})\right], \quad (2.33)$$

where $\phi = E[\operatorname{Re}\{z_q(i)\}\operatorname{Re}\{z_q(i)\}]$. Using Monte Carlo method, the probability of error can be evaluated by averaging (2.31) over realizations of the fading channel.

Following the same procedure, the combined received signal at the base station when using AAF cooperating technique will be equivalent to

$$\mathbf{r}(i) = \sum_{k=1}^{V} \bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k} S_{k}(i) + \sum_{k=V+1}^{K} \bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k} x_{k}(2i-1) + \sum_{k=V+1}^{K} \mathbf{h}_{k}^{(2)} x_{k}(2i) + \mathbf{n}(i)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{V} \bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k} S_{k}(i) + \sum_{k=P+1}^{K} \bar{\mathbf{u}}_{k} x_{k}(2i) + \bar{\mathbf{n}}(i)$$
(2.34)

where $\bar{\mathbf{h}}_k = [\mathbf{s}_{k,0}, \bar{\mathbf{s}}_{k,0}]^T$, $\bar{\mathbf{u}}_k = [\mathbf{s}_{k,0}, \bar{\mathbf{s}}_{k,0} + \mathbf{s}_{k,0}]^T$. The conditional probability of error can be expressed as [1]

$$P_q(h) = Q\left(\sqrt{\text{SINR}_q(h)}\right) \tag{2.35}$$

where

$$SINR_{q}(h) = \frac{E[\operatorname{Re}\{\xi\}|\operatorname{Re}\{S_{q}(i)\}]^{2}}{\operatorname{Var}[\operatorname{Re}\{\xi\}|\operatorname{Re}\{S_{q}(i)\}]}$$
$$= \frac{\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Re}\{\mathbf{m}_{q}^{H}\bar{\mathbf{h}}_{q}\}^{2}}{\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Im}\{\mathbf{m}_{q}^{H}\bar{\mathbf{h}}_{q}\}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k=1,k\neq q}^{V}|\mathbf{m}_{q}^{H}\bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k=V+1}^{K}|\mathbf{m}_{q}^{H}\bar{\mathbf{u}}_{k}|^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{m}_{q}^{H}\mathbf{R}_{\bar{n}}\mathbf{m}_{q}}, (2.36)$$
and $\mathbf{R}_{\bar{n}} = E\left[\bar{\mathbf{n}}(i)\bar{\mathbf{n}}(i)^{H}\right]$. Finally, the BER can be obtained by averaging (2.36) over realizations of the fading channel using Monte Carlo method.

In [1], the authors studied the impact of multiuser interference (MUI) on the system performance, where they compared the performance of the system using matched filter receivers at the relay side with the performance when the relays employ a linear MMSE receiver. Fig. 2.6 shows the results for both DAF and AAF cooperating techniques, comparing it with the non-cooperating network performance (NC network), and the ideal case of perfect inter-user channels (IC network).

Moreover, the authors in [1] compared the performance of the DAF cooperating technique for both optimum (the base station has the knowledge of the BER in the inter-user channels) and sub-optimum (the base station assumes that the relay's estimate is always correct) combining methods. Their results show that in case of optimum combining technique the system performance converges to the IC network performance.

In [18], a modified minimum mean-square-error (MMSE) detector was introduced for CDMA cooperative networks in synchronous flat-fading channels. A system with



Figure 2.6: Impact of MUI on the performance of cooperating networks [1].

K-mobile nodes (U_1, U_2, \dots, U_K) and a base station U_d is proposed. The K users are split into two groups G_T and G_R , such that each node in the G_T group will be assigned a cooperating partner from the G_R group.

The received signals at the relay and the base station during the first and second transmission times are expressed in vector format as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Y}_{2}[1] &= \mathbf{R}\mathbf{A}_{d1}\mathbf{H}_{2}\mathbf{S}_{1} + \mathbf{N}_{2}[1] \\ \mathbf{Y}_{d}[1] &= \mathbf{R}\mathbf{A}_{d1}\mathbf{H}_{d1}\mathbf{S}_{1} + \mathbf{N}_{d}[1] \\ \mathbf{Y}_{d}[2] &= \mathbf{R}\mathbf{A}_{d2}\mathbf{H}_{d2}\mathbf{S}_{2} + \mathbf{N}_{d}[2], \end{aligned}$$
(2.37)

where **R** is the cross correlation matrix, $[\mathbf{H}_2, \mathbf{H}_{d1}, \mathbf{H}_{d2}]$ are the $K \times K$ fading channel matrices, $[\mathbf{N}_2, \mathbf{N}_d]$ are the zero mean noise vectors, and $\mathbf{S}_1, \mathbf{S}_2$ represent the data

vectors and are equivalent to

$$\mathbf{S}_{1} = \left[S_{1}[1], \hat{S}_{2}[0], S_{3}[1], \hat{S}_{4}[0], \cdots, S_{K-1}[1], \hat{S}_{K}[0]\right]^{T}$$

$$\mathbf{S}_{2} = \left[\hat{S}_{1}[1], S_{2}[0], \hat{S}_{3}[1], S_{4}[2], \cdots, \hat{S}_{K-1}[1], S_{K}[2]\right]^{T}, \quad (2.38)$$

with S_k as the k^{th} user transmitted bit. The $[\mathbf{A}_{d1}, \mathbf{A}_{d2}]$ are $K \times K$ diagonal matrices and can be shown as

$$(\mathbf{A}_{d1})_{kk} = (\mathbf{A}_{d2})_{k+1,k+1} = \sqrt{\frac{P_{k,d}}{T_s}},$$
 (2.39)

where $P_{k,d}$ is the transmission power, and T_s is the symbol period. The performance of cooperating network using MMSE detector is shown in [18]. The results show that as the inter-user channel becomes more reliable, the system performance improves and more power should be allocated for cooperation.

2.2.4 Relay-Assisted Decorrelating Multiuser Detector (RAD-MUD)

In order to mitigate the effect of interference, a relay-assisted decorrelating multiuser detector for three relay cooperating methods was proposed in [2]:

- Transmit beamforming: It is based on beamforming coefficients that will be assigned for each transmitting source data. Those coefficients will arrange the power allocated to the cooperated signals. It can be implemented for the relay-destination (R-D) link or the source-relay-destination (S-R-D) link. This method can be used when full channel state information (CSI) is available.
- Selective relaying: When the relays have only the channel knowledge for its local (S-R) and (R-D) links, it can use threshold selection strategy. In this case, the

received signal power is compared to a threshold and based on that the relay is selected. In case of global CSI availability, best selection strategy can be used.

• Distributed space-time coding (DSTC): In this method, space time codes can be generated at the relay side by multiplying the symbol period by a randomly generated unitary matrix. This method is used in the case of missing knowledge of the CSI at the relays.

A synchronous CDMA network with K sources (s_1, \dots, s_K) and V relays (r_1, \dots, r_V) is shown in Fig. 2.7. Each relay is considered to be able to cooperate with multisources simultaneously, where the relay decodes the received signals and re-transmits it to the destination.



Figure 2.7: K users, V relays cooperative CDMA network.

For the proposed system, the received signal at the destination during the first transmission phase can be expressed as

$$y_1(t) = \sum_{l=1}^{L} \sum_{k=1}^{K} h_{s_k D} \sqrt{P_{s_k}} S_k[l] C_k(t - lT_s) + n_I(t), \qquad (2.40)$$

where L is the data block length, T_s is the symbol period, P_{s_k} is the bit transmission power, h_{s_kD} is the fading channel coefficient between user s_k and destination D, $n_I(t)$ is the AWGN, S_k is user's k data, and C_k is user's k spreading signature. The output of the matched filter at the destination for the l^{th} period of user k during the first transmission phase can be expressed in vector format as

$$\mathbf{y}_{I}[l] = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{H}_{SD}\mathbf{S}[l] + \mathbf{n}_{I}[l], \qquad (2.41)$$

where \mathbf{H}_{SD} is the uplink channel matrix, \mathbf{R} is the cross correlation matrix of the spreading signatures, and \mathbf{S} representing the data vector. While the output of the MF at the relay v during the l period can be shown as

$$\mathbf{u}_{v}[l] = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{H}_{SR_{v}}\mathbf{S}[l] + \mathbf{n}_{v}[l], \qquad (2.42)$$

with \mathbf{H}_{SR_v} as the inter-user fading channel matrix, and \mathbf{n}_v is the AWGN vector. During the second transmission phase, the V relays start transmitting the cooperated signals to the destination. In order to implement the proposed RAD-MUD scheme, and depending on the cooperating technique used, the relay r_v first starts to encode the received data matrix $\hat{\mathbf{S}}_v$ into another matrix $g_v(\hat{\mathbf{S}}_v)$, which will be multiplied by the matrix \mathbf{L}^{-H} , where \mathbf{L} is the Cholesky decomposition of the cross correlation matrix $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{L}\mathbf{L}^H$. The transmitted signal by relay r_v can be written as $\mathbf{T}_v = f(\hat{\mathbf{S}}_v) =$ $\mathbf{L}^{-H}g_v(\hat{\mathbf{S}}_v)$, and the output of the matched filter at the destination during the second transmission phase can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{y}_{II} = \sum_{v=1}^{V} h_{R_v D} \mathbf{R} \mathbf{L}^{-H} g_v(\hat{\mathbf{S}}_v) + \mathbf{N}_{II}.$$
(2.43)

Multiplying (2.43) by L^{-1} yields to

$$\check{\mathbf{y}}_{II} = \sum_{v=1}^{V} h_{R_v D} g_v(\hat{\mathbf{S}}_v) + \check{\mathbf{N}}_{II}.$$
(2.44)

where $\check{\mathbf{N}}_{II} = \mathbf{L}^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{II}$ is the additive noise term, with covariance matrix equals to $\mathbf{E}[\check{\mathbf{N}}_{II}[k]\check{\mathbf{N}}_{II}[k]^{H}] = \sigma_{n}^{2}\mathbf{I}_{K\times K}$. Thus \mathbf{L}^{-1} can be considered as a whitening filter. Finally, the MMSE combining technique will be used to combine the received signals during the two transmission phases at the destination side.



Figure 2.8: Performance of MMSE and RAD-MUD in cooperative networks [2].

Fig. 2.8 shows the performance of the RAD-MUD technique compared to the MMSE-MUD for different cooperation schemes. The results show the improvement

in the system performance when the RAD-MUD technique is introduced.

2.2.5 Successive Interference Cancelation (SIC) Detector

The SIC technique is based on removing the MAI from the received signal by subtracting users' interference one at a time. The user's data with the strongest signal is demodulated and detected. The detected data is then subtracted from the original received signal, removing the interference caused by this user.

In [19] a successive interference cancelation for synchronous CDMA cooperative networks is proposed. It is assumed that users form a cooperating user pairs $(\{1,2\},\dots,\{K-1,K\})$. In the proposed system, the authors show that the received signal at the relay v during the first time instant can be expressed as

$$r_{v}(t) = \sqrt{P_{k}}h_{kv}(t)S_{k}(t)C_{k}(t) + n_{v}(t), \qquad (2.45)$$

where $h_{kv}(t)$ is the fading channel between the pair $\{v, k\}$, P_k is the signal power of user k, $S_k(t)$ is the transmitted user's k data, $C_k(t)$ is user k spreading code, and $n_v(t)$ is the additive noise. While the received signal at the base station during the first and second time intervals can be shown respectively as,

$$r_{d}(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sqrt{P_{k}} h_{kd}(t) S_{k} C_{k}(t) + n(t)$$

$$r'_{d}(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sqrt{P_{v}} h_{vd}(t) S'_{k}(t) C_{k}(t) + n(t), \qquad (2.46)$$

where $S'_k(t)$ is the estimate of bit $S_k(t)$. The proposed SIC technique is then applied to the received signal in the first time interval, where the user's data with the strongest signal is estimated and its MAI is canceled from the actual received signal. The output of the matched filter for the user with the maximum signal power can be written as

$$z_{\max} = \max\left\{\frac{1}{T_b} \int_0^{T_b} \mathbf{r}_d \mathbf{C}_k\right\}.$$
 (2.47)

During the second time interval, the same user's estimate is extracted from the received signal $r'_d(t)$, and the output of the matched filter can be expressed as

$$z'_{\max} = \frac{1}{T_b} \int_0^{T_b} \mathbf{r}'_d \mathbf{C}_{\max}.$$
 (2.48)

The two estimated data during both time intervals are then combined and a final hard decision is taken. Finally, the MAI for the detected user is then subtracted from the original received signal as follow

$$\mathbf{r}_{d} = \mathbf{r}_{d} - z_{\max} \mathbf{C}_{k}$$
$$\mathbf{r}_{d}' = \mathbf{r}_{d}' - z_{\max}' \mathbf{C}_{k}.$$
(2.49)

In [19], the performance comparison for the SIC receiver and the conventional matched filter (MF) detector for different inter-user channels SNR was shown. It was shown that the performance gap between both receivers gets wider as the inter-user channel SNR increases.

2.3 Summary

In this chapter, we presented an overview of both CDMA-MIMO and CDMA cooperating networks. We investigated the effect of multi-access interference on the system performance, and we showed the extreme impact of the interference on the system. On the other hand, we reviewed different MAI mitigation techniques presented previously in the literature. For MIMO networks, we explored the SINR enhancement system by studying the receive-transmit filters.

Moreover, we presented different MAI mitigation methods for cooperating networks. The performance of the decorrelator detector, MMSE, the relay-assisted decorrelating multiuser detection, and successive interference cancelation was explored and compared to the performance of the conventional detector.

Chapter 3

Uncoded Single Relay Cooperation

In the previous works, related to CDMA systems, the performance of the cooperative network was either accompanied with the assumption of orthogonal subchannels (e.g., [14], [20]) or considering synchronous communications (e.g., [1], [2]). The impact of the non-orthogonality and asynchronous communication was studied in [16] for CDMA cooperative network but over flat fading channels. In this chapter, and different from previous works, we study the impact of MAI on the performance of asynchronous DS-CDMA cooperative networks over the more realistic case of frequencyselective fading channels. We show that the full benefits of cooperative diversity cannot be achieved if no multiuser interference suppression is employed for the interuser channel (source-relay). Our results show that in the presence of interference, the performance of the cooperative network is greatly affected resulting in a performance worse than the non-cooperative case. To this end, we analyze the performance of a system that employs interference suppression at both the cooperative user side and base station. In that, we consider two scenarios; (i) perfect inter-user channel (sourcerelay) where the relay (also referred as partner) correctly decodes the received user signal. This case is important since it serves as the optimal performance achieved using cooperation, where the distributed MIMO system reaches the performance of that of the centralized one (ii) imperfect inter-user channel where we assume that each relay has an error detection capability (e.g., cyclic redundancy check (CRC)) to decide weather cooperation can take place or not. In case of error, the cooperating user keeps silent (no cooperation). The receiver under consideration employs RAKE combining after interference suppression. The RAKE receiver exploits the path diversity inherent to multipath propagation where the decorrelator detector is used at both the relay side and base station to mitigate the effect of MAI and the known near-far problem [21]. The communication protocol considered is full-duplex where all users can transmit their data and act as relays for other users at the same time [1].

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows: The asynchronous DS-CDMA system model used in this chapter is described in section 3.2. In section 3.3, the system performance for a DAF scheme is examined for the case of a multiuser system where we obtain the probability density function (pdf) of the signal-to noise ratio at the receiver output and then derive the probability of bit error. The performance of DAF with imperfect inter-user channel is also analyzed in this section. In section 3.4, both analytical and simulation results are compared and discussed. Finally, conclusions are given in section 3.5.

3.1 Introduction

The fourth generation (4G) of wireless networks has been recently one of the most widely studied topic in literature [22], [23], [24]. Inter-network cooperation, cooperation at the application layer, cooperation at the IP layer and cooperation at the physical layer are all different cooperation techniques in the 4G world that was introduced by the authors in [25].

For a synchronous cooperative CDMA network, the authors in [2] considered a different cooperation technique where each relay can cooperate with multiple active users over flat fading channels. The opportunistic relaying (OR) and the selection cooperation (SC) are two relay selection methods studied in [26]. Closed form expressions for the outage probability and probability of error were provided for the uncoded single relay cooperation case. Furthermore, the impact of asynchronous communication on cooperative networks in frequency non-selective fading channels was studied in [27].

Other cooperative techniques including coded cooperation, where the cooperative diversity integrates with channel coding, have been considered in [28], [29]. A scenario where multiple transmitting sources and destinations using MMSE communicate simultaneously through number of relays was proposed in [30]. In [31], a cooperative wireless network using MIMO antenna selection algorithm was proposed, where transmitting users and relays employ multiple antennas. Using partial DAF strategy introduced in [32], the authors in [33] investigated the problem of relay selection in a multi-relay environment and studied the impact of the relay transmission power on the performance of the network.

3.2 System Model

3.2.1 Proposed Diversity Scheme

Consider an uplink transmission for an asynchronous K-user DS-CDMA system. The system employs one transmit antenna at the transmitter side and one receive antenna at the receiver side. In what follows, to simplify the notation, we refer to the base station with subscript b.

The transmission scheme considered is described in Fig. 3.1, 3.2, for a 2-user system [1]. As shown, during the first transmission period each user will send its own data to the base station and to its partner (Fig. 3.1), while during the second transmission period the cooperating user transmits the decoded version of its partner to the base station (Fig. 3.2).



Figure 3.1: First transmission period (single relay).

Consider a multipath channel with P paths during each transmission period. For



Figure 3.2: Second transmission period (single relay).

the DAF, the low pass equivalent of the received signal at the base station and relay (r) during the first transmission period can be expressed respectively as

$$r_{b1}(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{L-1} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{E_{U_k}} S_k(m) C_k(t - \tau_k - \tau_{k,p} - mT_b) h_{kb}^p(m) + n_{b1}(t)$$
(3.1)

$$r_r(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{L-1} \sum_{k=1_{k \neq r}}^{K} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{E_{I_k}} S_k(m) C_k(t - \tau_k - \tau_{k,p} - mT_b) h_{kr}^p(m) + n_r(t)$$
(3.2)

where L is the frame size, E_{U_k} and E_{I_k} are the received signal energies per path of user k at the base station (uplink channel) and the relay (inter-user channel) respectively, $S_k(m)$ is the m^{th} data bit of user k, $C_k(t)$ is the spreading code assigned to the k^{th} user with processing gain (T_b/T_c) , where T_b is the bit period and T_c is the chip period, and τ_k is the random transmit delay of the k^{th} user which is assumed uniformly distributed along the symbol period. The parameter $\tau_{k,p}$ represents the delay of the p^{th} path of user k during one transmission period. The channel coefficient h_{kr}^p models the fading of the inter-user channel between users k and r over the p^{th} path, while h_{kb}^p represents the fading coefficients for the uplink channel between user k and the base station

b over the path p. These fading coefficients are modeled as independent Gaussian random variables with zero mean and unit variance. The noise $n_{b1}(t)$ and $n_r(t)$ are complex Gaussian distributed each with zero mean and variance $\sigma_n^2 = N_o/2$.

During the second transmission period, each two users k and f(k) will cooperate together in which each cooperating user retransmits the received signal. Each cooperating user (relay) first decodes the partner's received signal, then using error checking techniques it decides whether or not to forward the estimated partner's data to the base station during the second transmission period. The low pass equivalent of the received signal at the base station during the second transmission period can then be expressed as

$$r_{b2}(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{L-1} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{E_{U_{f(k)}}} \tilde{S}_k(m) C_{f(k)}(t - \tau_{f(k)} - D_k - \tau_{f(k),p} - mT_b) h_{f(k)b}^p(m) + n_{b2}(t)$$
(3.3)

where f(k) is the user cooperating with user k, $\tilde{S}_k(m)$ is the estimate of $S_k(m)$, the noise $n_{b2}(t)$ is real Gaussian with zero mean and variance $\sigma_n^2 = N_o/2$, D_k is the transmission delay during the second transmission period as shown in the timing diagram in Fig. 3.3, where user k will wait a time delay D_k for its partner f(k) to finish transmission, and it is equivalent to

$$D_{k} = \begin{cases} |\tau_{k} - \tau_{f(k)}| & \text{for user } k \\ 0 & \text{for user } f(k) \end{cases}$$

3.2.2 Multiuser Detector

In a K-user system, where each user signal is transmitted over a multipath channel with P-resolvable paths, a RAKE receiver is employed at the front-end of both relay



Figure 3.3: Cooperation timing diagram (single relay).

and base station sides. The outputs of these RAKE receivers represent the sufficient statistics for users' data detection where it consists of (K-1)P filters at the relay side and KP filters at the base station. All filters are matched to the delayed versions of the normalized signature waveforms of each user. The output of the base station filter matched to the signature of user k, delayed over path p for the bit m, during the first transmission phase can be expressed in scalar form as

$$[Y_k^p(m)]_{b1} = \sum_{n=0}^{L-1} \sum_{w=1}^K \sum_{s=1}^P \sqrt{E_{U_w}} R_{k,w}^{(p,s)}(m,n) h_{wb}^s(n) S_w(n) + N_k^p(m)$$
(3.4)

where $R_{k,w}^{(p,s)}(m,n)$ is the cross correlation value between bit m of user k transmitted over path p and the n bit of user w transmitted over path s, and it is equivalent to

$$R_{k,w}^{(p,s)}(m,n) = \int C_w (t - \tau_w - \tau_{w,s} - nT_b) C_k (t - \tau_k - \tau_{k,p} - mT_b)^* dt.$$
(3.5)

The output of the bank of matched filters at both the base station and relay (r)

can be expressed in vector format, respectively, as

$$\mathbf{Y}_b = \mathbf{R}_b \mathbf{H}_b \mathbf{X}_b + \mathbf{N}_b \tag{3.6}$$

$$\mathbf{Y}_r = \mathbf{R}_r \mathbf{H}_r \mathbf{X}_r + \mathbf{N}_r \tag{3.7}$$

where \mathbf{X}_b is the $(KLP \times 1)$ data vector of the K users and it can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{X}_{b} = \left[\sqrt{E_{U_{1}}}S_{1}(1)\cdots\sqrt{E_{U_{1}}}S_{1}(1)\cdots\sqrt{E_{U_{1}}}S_{1}(L)\cdots\sqrt{E_{U_{K}}}S_{1}(L)\cdots\sqrt{E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(1)\cdots\right]^{T},$$
$$\cdots\sqrt{E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(1)\cdots\sqrt{E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(L)\cdots\sqrt{E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(L)\right]^{T},$$

T represents transpose, \mathbf{N}_b is $(KLP \times 1)$ noise vector with Gaussian elements each of zero mean and variance $N_o/2$, \mathbf{H}_b is the $(KLP \times KLP)$ uplink channel matrix defined as

$$\mathbf{H}_{b} = \begin{bmatrix} h_{1b}^{1}(1) & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & h_{1b}^{P}(L) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & h_{Kb}^{P}(L) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.8)

Assuming the channels to be fixed over the whole frame L, the channel coefficients are equivalent $h_{kb}^p(1) = \cdots = h_{kb}^p(L)$. Similarly, at the relay side

$$\mathbf{X}_r = \left[\sqrt{E_{I_1}}S_1(1)\cdots\sqrt{E_{I_1}}S_1(L)\cdots\sqrt{E_{I_K}}S_K(1)\cdots\sqrt{E_{I_K}}S_K(L)\right]_{k\neq r}^T,$$

 \mathbf{N}_r is $((K-1)LP\times 1)$ Gaussian noise vector, and \mathbf{H}_r is the $((K-1)LP\times (K-1)LP)$

inter-user channel matrix defined as

$$\mathbf{H}_{r} = \begin{bmatrix} h_{1r}^{1}(1) & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & h_{1r}^{P}(L) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & h_{Kr}^{P}(L) \end{bmatrix}_{k \neq r}$$
(3.9)

The matrices \mathbf{R}_b and \mathbf{R}_r are the $(KLP \times KLP)$ base station and $((K-1)LP \times (K-1)LP)$ relay cross-correlation, given respectively by

$$\mathbf{R}_{b} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(1,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(L,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{K,K}^{(P,P)}(L,L) \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.10)
$$\mathbf{R}_{\tau} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(1,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(L,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{K,K}^{(P,P)}(L,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{K,K}^{(P,P)}(L,L) \end{bmatrix}_{k \neq r},$$
(3.11)

where $R_{k,w}^{(p,s)}(m,n)$ is defined in (3.5). Note that the outputs of the matched filter bank in (3.6) and (3.7) suffer from MAI which can be eliminated using the one-shot decorrelator detector at both the relay and base station receivers [21]. In this case, the output of the matched filter bank \mathbf{Y}_b , \mathbf{Y}_r are applied to linear mappers as follows

$$\mathbf{Z}_b = (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{Y}_b$$

$$\mathbf{Z}_r = (\mathbf{R}_r)^{-1} \mathbf{Y}_r$$

where $(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}$, $(\mathbf{R}_r)^{-1}$ are the inverses of the cross-correlation matrices. The $(KLP \times 1)$ vector \mathbf{Z}_b represents the output of the one-shot decorrelator at the base station, defined by

$$\mathbf{Z}_b = \mathbf{H}_b \mathbf{X}_b + (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_b \tag{3.12}$$

while the $((K-1)LP \times 1))$ vector \mathbf{Z}_r represents the output of the decorrelator at the relay (r), given by

$$\mathbf{Z}_r = \mathbf{H}_r \mathbf{X}_r + (\mathbf{R}_r)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_r.$$
(3.13)

3.3 Performance Analysis

In this section, we analyze the average bit error rate (BER) at the base station decorrelator output using the DAF cooperative method and considering both cases of perfect inter-user channel, and the case of errors at the cooperating user side. For the sake of simplicity, we consider binary phase-shift-keying (BPSK) transmission.

3.3.1 Perfect Inter-user Channels

Here we consider perfect inter-user channels between the transmitting user and relays. This assumption is too optimistic, however, it serves as our reference for optimum performance (i.e., lower bound). Later we will consider the more realistic case where relays are subject to decoding errors.

Considering the m^{th} data bit of user 1 is the desired bit, the decorrelator output in the first and the second transmission periods at the base station can be expressed respectively as

$$\begin{aligned} [\mathbf{Z}_1]_{b1} &= \mathbf{H}_b[\mathbf{X}_1]_{b1} + (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}[\mathbf{N}_1]_{b1} \\ [\mathbf{Z}_1]_{b2} &= \mathbf{H}_b[\mathbf{X}_1]_{b2} + (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}[\mathbf{N}_1]_{b2} \end{aligned}$$

where $[\mathbf{X}_1]_{b1}, [\mathbf{X}_1]_{b2}$ represent the data vector transmitted during the first and the second transmission periods respectively

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X}_{1} \end{bmatrix}_{b1} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} S_{1}(1) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} S_{1}(1) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} S_{1}(L) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{K}}} S_{1}(L) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{K}}} S_{K}(1) \cdots \\ \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{K}}} S_{K}(1) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{K}}} S_{K}(L) \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{X}_{1} \end{bmatrix}_{b2} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} \tilde{S}_{f(1)}(1) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} \tilde{S}_{f(1)}(1) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} \tilde{S}_{f(1)}(L) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} \tilde{S}_{f(1)}(L) \cdots \\ \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{K}}} \tilde{S}_{f(K)}(1) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{K}}} \tilde{S}_{f(K)}(1) \cdots \sqrt{E_{U_{K}}} \tilde{S}_{f(K)}(L) \end{bmatrix}^{T}.$$

The P elements of $[\mathbf{Z}_1]_{b1}$ correspond to the decision statistics of bit m for user 1 before RAKE combining, during the first transmission

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_1^1(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b1} = \sqrt{E_{U_1}} h_{1b}^1(m) S_1(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b1}]^1$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_1^P(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b1} = \sqrt{E_{U_1}} h_{1b}^P(m) S_1(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b1}]^P$$
(3.14)

where $[Z_k^p(m)]_{b1}$ is the element that corresponds to the decision statistics of bit m for user k transmitted over path p before RAKE combining, and $[(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b1}]^p$ is the p^{th} entry of the vector, while the P elements of $[\mathbf{Z}_1]_{b2}$ that represent the contribution of the cooperative phase (i.e., second frame), are given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_1^1(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b2} = \sqrt{E_{U_{f(1)}}} h_{f(1)b}^1(m) \tilde{S}_1(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b2}]^1$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_1^P(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b2} = \sqrt{E_{U_{f(1)}}} h_{f(1)b}^P(m) \tilde{S}_1(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b2}]^P. \quad (3.15)$$

Under the assumption of perfect inter-user channels, $\tilde{S}_1(m) = S_1(m)$, and by combining the 2P elements, the decision statistic of the desired user signal is

$$\dot{S}_{1}(m) = h_{1b}^{1*}(m) \left[Z_{1}^{1}(m) \right]_{b1} + \dots + h_{1b}^{P*}(m) \left[Z_{1}^{P}(m) \right]_{b1} + h_{f(1)b}^{1*}(m) \left[Z_{1}^{1}(m) \right]_{b2} + \dots + h_{f(1)b}^{P*}(m) \left[Z_{1}^{P}(m) \right]_{b2}.$$
(3.16)

Assuming that the two cooperating users are transmitting with the same energy $[E_{U_1} = E_{U_{f(1)}}]$, one can show that $\dot{S}_1(m)$ is equivalent to

$$\dot{S}_{1}(m) = \sqrt{E_{U_{1}}} \left[|h_{1b}^{1}(m)|^{2} + \dots + |h_{1b}^{P}(m)|^{2} + |h_{f(1)b}^{1}(m)|^{2} + \dots + |h_{f(1)b}^{P}(m)|^{2} \right] S_{1}(m) + \operatorname{Re} \left\{ h_{1b}^{1*}(m) \left[(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b1} \right]^{1} + \dots + h_{1b}^{P*}(m) \left[(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b1} \right]^{P} + h_{f(1)b}^{1*}(m) \left[(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b2} \right]^{1} + \dots + h_{f(1)b}^{P*}(m) \left[(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b2} \right]^{P} \right\}$$
(3.17)

where (*) denotes complex conjugate operation, and Re{.} donates the real part.

3.3.1.1 Conditional Probability of Error

From (3.17), the probability of error at the base station conditioned on the uplink channel coefficients can be expressed as

$$P_{b_P} = Q\left(\frac{\sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{E_{U_1}} \left(|h_{1b}^p(m)|^2 + |h_{f(1)b}^p(m)|^2\right)}{\sqrt{\sigma_x^2}}\right)$$
(3.18)

where $Q(x) = \int_{x}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp(-\frac{v^2}{2}) dv$. In (3.18), σ_x^2 is the variance of the noise term in (3.17) which can be written as

$$\sigma_x^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^{P} |h_{1b}^p(m)|^2 (R_b)_1^{-2} + |h_{f(1)b}^p(m)|^2 (R_b)_{f(1)}^{-2}, \qquad (3.19)$$

where $(R_b)_k^{-2}$ is the square of the sum of the k^{th} row in the inverse of the cross-correlation matrix.

Let us define $\alpha_{1b}^p = |h_{1b}^p(m)|^2$ and $\alpha_{f(1)b}^p = |h_{f(1)b}^p(m)|^2$. Then α_{1b}^p , $\alpha_{f(1)b}^p$ are chi-square distributed of two degrees of freedom with variance σ^2 and characteristic function [34]

$$\phi(jw) = \frac{1}{1 - j2w\sigma^2}.$$
(3.20)

Also, by designating the two parameters $(R_b)_1^{-2}$, $(R_b)_{f(1)}^{-2}$, as $C_1, C_{f(1)}$, respectively, the noise variance σ_x^2 in (3.19) can be written as

$$\sigma_x^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^P \alpha_{1b}^p C_1 + \alpha_{f(1)b}^p C_{f(1)}.$$
(3.21)

Define the variable γ as

$$\gamma = \frac{A}{\sqrt{B}},\tag{3.22}$$

where $A = \sum_{p=1}^{P} \alpha_{1b}^p + \alpha_{f(1)b}^p$ and $B = \sum_{p=1}^{P} \alpha_{1b}^p C_1 + \alpha_{f(1)b}^p C_{f(1)}$. Using the new conventions the conditional probability of error can be expressed as

$$P_{b_P} = Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{E_{U_1}\gamma^2}{\sigma_n^2}}\right). \tag{3.23}$$

3.3.1.2 Probability Density Function

In order to obtain the pdf of γ , we need to determine the joint characteristic function of A and B. As shown in Appendix A, the joint characteristic function can be expressed as

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{j}{C_u}}{(2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \left(\sum_{U=1}^{2P} \frac{C_{Uk}}{\left(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U}\right)} \right), \qquad (3.24)$$

where $C_{Uk} = \frac{K_U}{y^{2P-1}}$ is the residue term obtained from the partial fraction, and K_U is a function of the cross-correlations among users. The joint pdf, f(A, B), is then given by

$$f(A,B) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{A,B}(w_1,w_2) \exp^{-jw_1A} \exp^{-jw_2B} dw_1 dw_2. \quad (3.25)$$

By solving the double integral as shown in Appendix A and letting W = B, we obtain

$$f(\gamma, W) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \sum_{U=1}^{2P} \Psi_U W^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\gamma \sqrt{W} - \frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma\sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^2}\right)}, \quad (3.26)$$

where $\Psi_U = \frac{4\pi^2 K_U}{\Gamma(2P-1)}$. Hence, one can determine the pdf of the SNR as (see Appendix A)

$$f(\gamma) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \sum_{U=1}^{2P} \Psi_U R_U(\gamma), \qquad (3.27)$$

where

$$R_U(\gamma) = \int_0^{C_U^2 \gamma^2} W^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\gamma \sqrt{W} - \frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma \sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^2}\right)} dW.$$
(3.28)

Using the binomial series expansion, setting $t = \sqrt{W}$ and expressing the equation in terms of confluent hypergeometric function, as shown in Appendix B we get

$$R_{U}(\gamma) = 2\gamma^{4P-1}C_{U}^{2P+1}\exp^{\left(\frac{-C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right)}\sum_{m=0}^{2P-2} {\binom{2P-2}{m}} \frac{(-1)^{2P-2-m}}{4P-m-1}$$

$${}_{1}F_{1}\left(1;4P-m;\frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right). \qquad (3.29)$$

Finally, the pdf of the SNR can be obtained by substituting (3.29) in (3.27).

3.3.1.3 Probability of Bit Error

The probability of bit error can be obtained by averaging (3.23) over the pdf given in (3.27)

$$P_{b_P} = \int_0^\infty Q(\sqrt{\delta\gamma^2}) f(\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (3.30)$$

where $\delta = \frac{E_{U_1}}{\sigma_n^2}$, and

$$Q(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \exp^{\frac{-x^2}{2\sin^2\theta}} d\theta$$

to give,

$$P_{b_{P}} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp^{\frac{-\delta\gamma^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\theta}} f(\gamma) d\gamma d\theta$$
$$= \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{C_{u}}}{4\pi^{3}} \sum_{U=1}^{2P} \Psi_{U} F_{U}(\delta), \qquad (3.31)$$

where

$$F_{U}(\delta) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^{2})^{2P}} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp^{\frac{-\delta\gamma^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\theta}} R_{U}(\gamma) d\gamma d\theta$$

$$= 2C_{U}^{2P+1} \sum_{m=0}^{2P-2} {\binom{2P-2}{m}} \left(\frac{2P-2}{m}\right) \left(\frac{(-1)^{2P-2-m}}{4P-1-m}\right) G_{m}(\delta), \quad (3.32)$$

 and

$$G_{m}(\delta) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^{2})^{2P}} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \gamma^{4P-1} \exp^{-\gamma^{2}(\frac{\delta}{2\sin^{2}\theta} + \frac{C_{U}}{2\sigma^{2}})} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(1; 4P-m; \frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right) d\gamma d\theta.$$
(3.33)

Letting $t = \gamma^2$ in (3.33), and using [35]

$$\int_0^\infty \exp^{-st} t^{b-1} {}_1F_1(a;c;kt)dt = \Gamma(b)(s-k)^{-b} {}_2F_1\left(c-a,b;c;\frac{k}{k-s}\right),$$
(3.34)

(3.33) yields (see Appendix C)

$$G_m(\overline{\delta}) = \frac{\Gamma(2P)}{2(P\overline{\delta})^{2P}} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} (\sin^2\theta)^{2P} {}_2F_1\left(4P - m - 1, 2P; 4P - m; \frac{-C_U \sin^2\theta}{(P\overline{\delta})}\right) d\theta,$$
(3.35)

where $\overline{\delta} = \frac{E[|h_{kb}^{p}(m)|^{2}]E_{U_{1}}}{\sigma_{n}^{2}}$ is the average SNR of the channel. Substituting $V = \sin^{2}\theta$ in (3.35) and using [eq. (7.512.12), [35]],

$$\int_{0}^{1} (1-x)^{u-1} x^{v-1} {}_{p} F_{q}(a_{1},...,a_{p};b_{1},...,b_{q};ax) dx$$

= $\frac{\Gamma(u)\Gamma(v)}{\Gamma(u+v)} {}_{p+1}F_{q+1}(v,a_{1},...,a_{p};u+v,b_{1},...,b_{q};a),$ (3.36)

we have from Appendix C

$$G_{m}(\overline{\delta}) = \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{4P+1}{2})}{8P(P\overline{\delta})^{2P}}\right){}_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{4P+1}{2}, 4P-m-1, 2P; 2P+1, 4P-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{(P\overline{\delta})}\right).$$
(3.37)

Finally, using (3.37) and (3.32) the average probability of bit error in (3.31) can be evaluated as

$$P_{b_{P}} = \left(\frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{C_{u}}}{4\pi^{3}}\right) \sum_{U=1}^{2P} 2\Psi_{U} C_{U}^{2P+1}$$

$$\sum_{m=0}^{2P-2} \binom{2P-2}{m} \frac{(-1)^{2P-2-m} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{4P+1}{2})}{8P(P\overline{\delta})^{2P}}$$

$${}_{3}F_{2} \left(\frac{4P+1}{2}, 4P-m-1, 2P; 2P+1, 4P-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{(P\overline{\delta})}\right). \quad (3.38)$$

From (3.38), we can examine the asymptotic BER performance of the cooperative system as the SNR gets large. Noting that ${}_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{4P+1}{2}, 4P-m-1, 2P; 2P+1, 4P-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{\overline{\delta}}\right) \rightarrow 1$ as $\overline{\delta} \rightarrow \infty$, one can see that $P_{b_{P}} \equiv \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\delta}} \frac{2P}{2P}\right)$, and the achieved diversity order d = 2P.

3.3.2 Inter-User Channel Errors

As mentioned earlier, the performance of the cooperative system with perfect interuser channel is not realistic in some cases and can only serve as a lower bound indicating optimal performance. Therefore, here we consider the effect of errors in the inter-user channels where cooperation among users can only take place if the relay detection is error-free. If errors exist, the corresponding relay (cooperating user) stays idle during the second transmission period.

3.3.2.1 Probability of Bit Error

Without loss of generality, consider the m^{th} data bit of user one as the desired bit, the decorrelator outputs at the cooperative user side f(1) is given by

$$[\mathbf{Z}_1]_r = \mathbf{H}_r[\mathbf{X}_1]_r + (\mathbf{R}_r)^{-1}[\mathbf{N}_1]_r$$
(3.39)

where the P elements of Z_1 are

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_1^1(m) \end{bmatrix}_r = \sqrt{E_{I_1}} h_{1f(1)}^1(m) S_1(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_r)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_1]^1$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_1^P(m) \end{bmatrix}_r = \sqrt{E_{I_1}} h_{1f(1)}^P(m) S_1(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_r)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_1]^P.$$
(3.40)

At the output of the RAKE combiner, we have the user data decision statistic

$$\ddot{S}_{1}(m) = \left[|h_{1f(1)}^{1}(m)|^{2} + \dots + |h_{1f(1)}^{P}(m)|^{2} \right] S_{1}(m)$$

+ Re { $h_{1f(1)}^{1*}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{r})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{1})^{1} + \dots + h_{1f(1)}^{P*}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{r})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{1})^{P}$ }, (3.41)

and the probability of error of the inter-user channel

$$P_{b_E} = Q\left(\frac{\sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{E_{I_1}}(|h_{1f(1)}^p(m)|^2)}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_r}^2}}\right),$$
(3.42)

where

$$\sigma_{x_r}^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^P |h_{1f(1)}^p(m)|^2 (R_r)_1^{-2}, \qquad (3.43)$$

and $(R_r)_k^{-2}$ is the square of the sum of the k^{th} row in the inverse of the crosscorrelation matrix. Similar to the case of perfect inter-user channel, we define $\alpha_{1f(1)}^p = |h_{1f(1)}^p(m)|^2$ with characteristic function given by (3.20). Also, letting $(R_r)_1^{-2} = C_1$, the noise variance $\sigma_{x_r}^2$ can be expressed as

$$\sigma_{x_r}^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^P \alpha_{1f(1)}^p C_1.$$
(3.44)

Following the same analysis as the perfect case, we define a variable γ_r as

$$\gamma_r = \frac{A_r}{\sqrt{B_r}},\tag{3.45}$$

where $A_r = \sum_{p=1}^{P} \alpha_{1f(1)}^p$ and $B_r = \sum_{p=1}^{P} \alpha_{1f(1)}^p C_1$. Then, it is easy to show that

$$\phi_{A_r,B_r}(w_1,w_2) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{j}{C_u}}{(2\sigma^2)^P} \left(\sum_{U=1}^{P} \frac{C_{Uk_r}}{(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U})} \right),$$
(3.46)

where $C_{Uk_r} = \frac{K_{U_r}}{y^{p-1}}$ is the residue term obtained from the partial fraction and K_{U_r} can be obtained in terms of the cross-correlation among users. The pdf, $f(A_r, B_r)$, is then given by

$$f(A_r, B_r) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^P} \sum_{U=1}^{P} \Psi_{U_r} \left(A_r - \frac{B_r}{C_U}\right)^{P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-A_r}{2\sigma^2}\right)}$$

with $\Psi_{U_r} = \frac{4\pi^2 K_{U_r}}{\Gamma(P)}$, and

$$f(\gamma_r) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^P} \sum_{U=1}^{P} \Psi_{U_r} R_{U_r}(\gamma_r), \qquad (3.47)$$

where

$$R_{U_r}(\gamma_r) = 2\gamma_r^{2P-1}C_U^{P+1}\exp^{(\frac{-C_U\gamma_r^2}{2\sigma^2})}\sum_{m=0}^{P-2} \begin{pmatrix} P-2\\ m \end{pmatrix} \\ \left(\frac{(-1)^{P-2-m}}{2P-m-1}\right) {}_1F_1\left(1;2P-m;\frac{C_U\gamma_r^2}{2\sigma^2}\right).$$
(3.48)

The probability of bit error at the relay can then be obtained using (3.42) and (3.47),

$$P_{b_{E}} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp^{\frac{-\delta_{r}\gamma_{r}^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\theta}} f(\gamma_{r}) d\gamma_{r} d\theta$$
$$= \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{1}{C_{u}}}{4\pi^{3}} \sum_{U=1}^{P} \Psi_{U_{r}} F_{U_{r}}$$
(3.49)

with

$$F_{U_r}(\bar{\delta}_r) = 2C_U^{P+1} \sum_{m=0}^{P-2} {\binom{P-2}{m}} \left(\frac{P-2}{m} \right) \left(\frac{(-1)^{P-2-m}}{2P-m-1} \right) G_{m_r}(\bar{\delta}_r).$$

where $\overline{\delta}_r = \frac{E[|h_{kf(k)}^p(m)|^2]E_{I_1}}{\sigma_n^2}$ is the average SNR of the inter-user channel, and

$$G_{m_r}(\overline{\delta}_r) = \frac{\Gamma(P)}{2(R_c dP\overline{\delta}_r)^P} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} (\sin^2\theta)^P {}_2F_1\left(2P - m - 1, P; 2P - m; \frac{-C_U \sin^2\theta}{R_c dP\overline{\delta}_r}\right) d\theta.$$
(3.50)

Similar to the perfect case shown in Appendix C, the average probability of bit error for the inter-user channel can be expressed as

$$P_{b_{E}} = \left(\frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{1}{C_{u}}}{4\pi^{3}}\right) \sum_{U=1}^{P} 2\Psi_{U_{1}} C_{U}^{P+1}$$

$$\sum_{m=0}^{P-2} \binom{P-2}{m} \left(\frac{(-1)^{P-2-m}}{2P-m-1}\right) \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{2P+1}{2})}{4(P)(R_{c}dP\bar{\delta}_{r})^{P}}\right)$$

$${}_{3}F_{2} \left(\frac{2P+1}{2}, 2P-m-1, P; P+1, 2P-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{R_{c}dP\bar{\delta}_{r}}\right). \quad (3.51)$$

Having obtained the probability of bit error at the relay, one can find the average BER at the base station as

$$P_b = P_{b_E} P_{b_{NC}} + (1 - P_{b_E}) P_{b_P}, \qquad (3.52)$$

where P_{b_E} represents the probability of error at the relay, P_{b_P} represents the probability of error in the uplink channel (perfect inter-user channel case), and $P_{b_{NC}}$ is the average probability of error for the direct transmission between the active user and the base station. Note that if the inter-user channel is perfect ($P_{b_E} = 0$), the average probability of error P_b is equal to the full cooperation probability of error P_{b_P} , and the system gains full benefit from cooperation. While in case of very poor inter-user channels, the probability of error is dominated by the non-cooperative probability of error, $P_{b_{NC}}$. Similar to the discussion in the perfect inter-user channel, we can see that the maximum diversity order of 2P is achieved when the inter-user channel is perfect.

3.4 Simulation Results

In this section, we present simulation results to assess the performance of the cooperative system when considering different scenarios. Also, we examine the accuracy of our analytical results obtained in section 3.3. We consider the cooperative diversity spreading scheme in [1] with one transmit and one receive antennas. An 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA system with BPSK transmission is assumed where every user data is spread using non-orthogonal Gold codes of length 31 chips. For the asynchronous channel, the transmitted frames are 100 bits each, the fading coefficients are fixed for a number of frames and the delay between users, τ_k , is uniformly distributed along the symbol period. We also assume perfect knowledge of the channel coefficients at the base station and the relay.

In Fig. 3.4, the performance of the cooperative system is simulated for a 2path frequency-selective slow fading channels. The performance of the system will be compared to the non-cooperation case. In order to have a fair comparison, each transmitting user in the non-cooperation case will send its information bits twice to the base station. Considering errors in the inter-user channels, the performance of the network with conventional matched filter receivers at the relays is compared with the performance of the relays using decorrelator detectors. As shown, when the



Figure 3.4: BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA network over 2-path frequency-selective slow fading channels.

decorrelator receiver is used at the relay, the system is immune to multiple-access interference. However, the conventional receiver becomes almost ineffective resulting in an error floor due to the fact that the detected signals at both the relays and the base station suffer from high levels of interference. As a result, the performance of the cooperative network when employing matched filter receivers at the relays can in some cases be worse than the non-cooperative case. Comparing the two relay forwarding protocols, where the relay forwards the decoding errors with the case of silent transmission when errors exist at the relay, the results show that forwarding the decoding errors will cause degradation in the overall network performance shown in the loss of diversity gain. The results also show that the system can achieve the full diversity gain when considering perfect inter-user channels. These results suggest that, in the presence of MAI at the relay, the overall system performance degrades significantly and no benefit for user cooperation can take place.

Fig. 3.5 shows the impact of the inter-user channels over the overall performance of an 8 user cooperating network over 2-path frequency-selective slow fading channels. The figure compares the performance of the cooperating network as a function of the inter-user channel SNR (E_I) with the no cooperation case and the perfect interuser channels case $(E_I = \infty)$. The results show that as the inter-user channel SNR increases, the network gains from diversity and the performance gets closer to the perfect inter-user channel case.



Figure 3.5: BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA network over 2-path frequency-selective slow fading channels, for different inter-user channel SNR.

To show the full benefits of user cooperation, Fig. 3.6 shows both simulation and analytical results for the cooperative system with the same number of users under perfect inter-user channel and as a function of the number of resolvable paths. As can be seen from these results, the cooperative system always achieve higher diversity gains as the number of paths per channel increases. Note that the derived BER results are quite accurate when compared to simulated results. It is worthy to mention that the system, in this case, achieves the maximum diversity gain (cooperative and multipath diversities) of 2P.

Finally, in Fig. 3.7, we consider the case of imperfect inter-user channel using both simulations and analytical results. By comparison with the perfect inter-user channel case, we can conclude that when the number of resolvable paths increases, the system can achieve high diversity gains, however, due to errors in the inter-user channel the system cannot gain the full cooperation diversity.



Figure 3.6: BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA with DAF cooperation as a function of the number of paths over frequency-selective slow fading channels assuming perfect inter-user channels.

3.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, we examined the performance of cooperative diversity using DAF cooperation in asynchronous DS-CDMA systems over frequency-selective slow fading channels. Several issues have been studied, such as the impact of, multi-user interference, inter-user channel errors, and multipath diversity on the overall system performance. We have shown that if no multiple-access interference suppression is applied at the relay side, the system cannot achieve the diversity gains promised by the cooperative network. When considering multiuser interference suppression using the decorrelator detector at both the relay and base station sides, we showed that the system is capable of achieving large diversity gains. In that, we have analyzed the system performance for both the perfect and imperfect inter-user channel cases. We have provided mathematical forms for the probability of bit error for the cooperative DAF system for these two scenarios. The high accuracy of our analytical results was verified through simulation examples and under different system parameters.


Figure 3.7: BER performance for an 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA with DAF cooperation as a function of the number of paths over frequency-selective slow fading channels and considering errors in the inter-user channels.

Chapter 4

Coded Multi-relay Cooperation

In the previous chapter, we analyzed the performance of asynchronous DS-CDMA uncoded cooperative networks over frequency-selective fading channels. In this chapter, we study the impact of inter-user channel performance in asynchronous DS-CDMA multi-relay coded cooperative networks over the more realistic case of frequencyselective fading channels. In order to mitigate the effect of decoding errors in the inter-user channels, we integrate channel coding with the DAF cooperation technique for the more general case of multi-relay cooperative networks. We show the full benefits of cooperative diversity when channel coding is employed. Our results show that the performance of the cooperative network is greatly affected by the quality of inter-user channel. To this end, we analyze the performance of a system that employs convolutional coding at both the cooperative user side and base station. In that, we consider two scenarios; (i) perfect inter-user channel (source-relay) where the relay (also referred as partner) correctly decodes the received user signal. This case is important since it serves as the optimal performance achieved using cooperation, where the distributed MIMO system reaches the performance of the centralized one, (ii) imperfect inter-user channel where we assume that each relay has an error detection capability (e.g., cyclic redundancy check (CRC)) to decide weather cooperation can take place or not. In case of error, the cooperating user keeps silent (no cooperation).

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows: The following section describes the asynchronous DS-CDMA system model used in this chapter. In section 4.3, the system performance for a DAF scheme is examined for the case of a multiuser system where we obtain the probability density function of SNR at the receiver output. Then we derive the pairwise probability of error, which will be used to obtain an upper bound performance. The performance of DAF with imperfect inter-user channel is also analyzed in this section. In section 4.4, both analytical and simulation results are compared and discussed. Finally, conclusions are given in section 4.5.

4.1 Introduction

Coded cooperation integrates cooperative diversity with channel coding and it was introduced in [28] where the codewords for the active transmitting users are split and sent over a number of independent fading channels. In [36], serial concatenated convolutional coding was introduced to a half duplex TDMA single link cooperative scheme where the performance of the system was studied over flat fading channels for both cooperation schemes DAF and AAF. The performance of coded single relay cooperative network for OFDM systems was the point of research in [37]. Multi source cooperative TDMA network was studied in [38], where a distributed complex field coding (DCFC) was introduced and the performance was analyzed over Rayleigh fading channels. The performance of coded cooperation was also studied in [39], [40], [29]. In [41], adaptive coding protocol was introduced to cooperative networks, where active users and partners employ ACK/NACK concept in order to confirm the reception of correctly decoded data.

Multiple source-destination communication employing multi-relay cooperative network was introduced in [42], where the authors studied a multiple-relay case for CDMA network. More recently, the performance of multi-relay cooperative networks was studied using AAF in flat fading channels and employing orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) [43].

The authors in [44] studied a coded multi-relay protocol for a half duplex cooperative system, also a distributed convolutional coding scheme was presented where the coded data is sent over several transmission periods. In [44] the performance of the system was investigated over slow fading channels. In [45], an antenna/relay selection protocol was presented, where each relay will be embedded with multiple antennas and an integration between relays and antennas selection was introduced. For a multi-relay cooperating network the authors in [46] introduced a parity forwarding DAF protocol, where each relay partially decodes and forward the source's messages. In [46], the authors proposed joint decoding strategy where the receiving node will be able to retrieve full information received from different relays. Recently, the authors in [47] studied a distributed coded cooperation method for a multi-relay convolutional coded cooperative network for M-ary phase-shift keying (M-PSK) modulation scheme, where the active users and their relays share their antennas for transmission.

4.2 Coded System

4.2.1 Proposed Diversity Scheme

Consider an uplink transmission for an asynchronous K-user DS-CDMA system. Each active transmitting user in the network will be cooperating with V relays. The system employs one transmit antenna at the transmitter side and one receive antenna at the receiver side. All users and relays are embedded with convolutional encoders of rate $R_c = m_c/n_c$ and a Viterbi decoder [48]. In what follows, to simplify the notation, we refer to the base station with subscript b and the v^{th} cooperating relay with subscript v.

The transmission scheme considered is described in Fig. 4.1, 4.2, for a V-relay system. As shown, during the first transmission phase each active transmitting user sends its own data to the base station and to its V partners (Fig. 4.1), while during the second transmission phase (relaying phase), each cooperating relay transmits the decoded version of its partner's data to the base station at different time slots (Fig. 4.2).

Consider a multipath channel with P paths during each transmission period. For the DAF, the low pass equivalent of the received signal at the base station and relay (v) during the first transmission phase can be expressed respectively as

$$\mathbf{r}_{b1}(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{L-1} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{R_c E_{U_k}} S_k(m) C_k(t - \tau_k - \tau_{k,p} - mT_b) h_{kb}^p(m) + n_{b1}(t)$$
(4.1)

$$\mathbf{r}_{v}(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{L-1} \sum_{k=1_{k \neq v}}^{K} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{R_{c} E_{I_{kv}}} S_{k}(m) C_{k}(t - \tau_{k} - \tau_{k,p} - mT_{b}) h_{kv}^{p}(m) + n_{v}(t) \quad (4.2)$$

where L is the size of the transmitted frame (output of the modulator), $S_k(m)$ is the



Figure 4.1: First transmission phase (multi-relay).



Figure 4.2: Second transmission phase (multi-relay).

 m^{th} transmitted bit of user k, E_{U_k} and $E_{I_{kv}}$ are the received signal energies per path of user k at the base station (uplink channel) and the relay v (inter-user channel) respectively, $C_k(t)$ is the spreading code assigned to the k^{th} user with processing gain (T_b/T_c) , where T_b is the bit period and T_c is the chip period, and τ_k is the random transmit delay of the k^{th} user which is assumed uniformly distributed along the symbol period. The parameter $\tau_{k,p}$ represents the delay of the p^{th} path of user kduring one transmission period. The channel coefficient h_{kv}^p models the fading of the inter-user channel between users k and v over the p^{th} path, while h_{kb}^p represents the fading coefficient for the uplink channel between user k and the base station b over the path p. These fading coefficients are modeled as independent Gaussian random variables with zero mean and unit variance. The noise $n_{b1}(t)$ and $n_v(t)$ are complex Gaussian, each with zero mean and variance $\sigma_n^2 = N_o/2$.

During the second transmission phase (relaying phase), V set of relays $[f_1(k) \cdots f_V(k)]$ cooperate with user k in which each cooperating relay retransmits the received signal. Each cooperating relay first decodes the partner's received signal, then using error checking techniques it decides whether or not to forward the estimated partner's data to the base station in the relaying phase. The relaying phase is done in V time slots where each cooperating relay will start transmitting at a different time slot. Hence, the data transmission rate of the system will decline as the number of the cooperating relays per transmitting user increases as illustrated in Fig. 4.3. The low pass equivalent of the received signal at the base station during the relaying phase can then be expressed as

$$\mathbf{r}_{b2}(t) = \sum_{m=0}^{L-1} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{\nu=1}^{V} \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{R_c \frac{E_{U_{f_\nu(k)}}}{V}} \tilde{S}_k(m) C_{f_\nu(k)}(t - D_{k,\nu} - \tau_{\nu,p} - m\nu T_b) h_{f_\nu(k)b}^p(m) + n_{b2}(t)$$

$$(4.3)$$

where $f_v(k)$ is the relay v cooperating with user k, $\tilde{S}_k(m)$ is the estimate of the transmitted coded bit $S_k(m)$, the noise $n_{b2}(t)$ is Gaussian with zero mean and variance $\sigma_n^2 = N_o/2$, $D_{k,v}$ is the transmission delay during the relaying phase (see the timing diagram in Fig. 4.4), where each cooperating relay $[f_1(k)\cdots f_V(k)]$ will have to wait for a time delay of $D_{k,v}$ for the preceding relay to finish transmission, and it is equivalent to $D_{k,v} = \tau_k$



Figure 4.3: Data transmission rate for multi-relay cooperation.



Figure 4.4: Cooperation timing diagram (multi-relay).

4.2.2 Multiuser Detector

In a K-user system, where each user signal is transmitted over a multipath channel with P-resolvable paths, a RAKE receiver is employed at the front-end of both sides of the relays and base station. The outputs of these RAKE receivers represent the sufficient statistics for users' data detection where it consists of (K-1)P filters at the relay side and KP filters at the base station. All filters are matched to the delayed versions of the normalized signature waveforms of each user. The output of the base station filter matched to the signature of user k, delayed over path p, for the bit mduring the first transmission phase can be expressed in scalar form as

$$[Y_k^p(m)]_{b1} = \sum_{n=0}^{L-1} \sum_{w=1}^K \sum_{s=1}^P \sqrt{R_c E_{U_w}} R_{k,w}^{(p,s)}(m,n) h_{wb}^s(n) S_w(n) + n_k^p(m)$$
(4.4)

where $R_{kw}^{(p,s)}(m,n)$ is the cross-correlation value between bit m of user k transmitted over path p and the n bit of user w transmitted over path s, and it is equivalent to

$$R_{k,w}^{(p,s)}(m,n) = \int C_w (t - \tau_w - \tau_{w,s} - nT_b) C_k (t - \tau_k - \tau_{k,p} - mT_b)^* dt.$$
(4.5)

The output of the bank of matched filters at both the base station and relay (v) can be expressed in vector format, respectively, as

$$\mathbf{Y}_b = \mathbf{R}_b \mathbf{H}_b \mathbf{X}_b + \mathbf{N}_b \tag{4.6}$$

$$\mathbf{Y}_v = \mathbf{R}_v \mathbf{H}_v \mathbf{X}_v + \mathbf{N}_v \tag{4.7}$$

where \mathbf{X}_b is the $(KLP \times 1)$ data vector of the K users, expressed for the first transmission phase as

$$\mathbf{X}_{b} = [\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{1}}}S_{1}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{1}}}S_{1}(L)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(L)]^{T},$$
(4.8)

 \mathbf{N}_b is $(KLP \times 1)$ noise vector with Gaussian elements each of zero mean and variance $N_o/2$, \mathbf{H}_b is $(KLP \times KLP)$ uplink channel matrix defined as

$$\mathbf{H}_{b} = \begin{bmatrix} h_{1b}^{1}(1) & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & h_{1b}^{P}(L) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & h_{Kb}^{P}(L) \end{bmatrix}, \quad (4.9)$$

assuming the channels to be fixed over the whole frame L, the channel coefficients are equivalent $h_{kb}^p(1) = \cdots = h_{kb}^p(L)$. Similarly, at the relay side,

$$\mathbf{X}_{v} = [\sqrt{R_{c}E_{I_{1v}}}S_{1}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{I_{1v}}}S_{1}(L)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{I_{Kv}}}S_{K}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{I_{Kv}}}S_{K}(L)]^{T},$$
(4.10)

 \mathbf{N}_{v} is $((K-1)LP \times 1)$ Gaussian noise vector, and \mathbf{H}_{v} is $((K-1)LP \times (K-1)LP)$ inter-user channel matrix defined as

$$\mathbf{H}_{v} = \begin{bmatrix} h_{1v}^{1}(1) & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & h_{1v}^{P}(L) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & h_{Kv}^{P}(L) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.11)

The matrices \mathbf{R}_b and \mathbf{R}_v are the $(KLP \times KLP)$ base station and $((K-1)LP \times (K-1)LP)$ relay cross-correlation, given respectively by

$$\mathbf{R}_{b} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(1,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(L,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{K,K}^{(P,P)}(L,L) \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.12)
$$\mathbf{R}_{v} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(1,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(1,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{1,K}^{(1,P)}(L,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{1,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{K,K}^{(P,P)}(L,L) \\ \vdots & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,1) & \cdots & R_{K,1}^{(1,1)}(L,L) & \cdots & R_{K,K}^{(P,P)}(L,L) \end{bmatrix}_{k \neq v},$$
(4.13)

where $R_{k,w}^{(p,s)}(m,n)$ is defined in (4.5). To overcome the effects of MAI, the output of the matched filter bank \mathbf{Y}_b , \mathbf{Y}_v are applied to linear mappers as follows

$$\mathbf{Z}_b = (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{Y}_b \tag{4.14}$$

$$\mathbf{Z}_{v} = (\mathbf{R}_{v})^{-1} \mathbf{Y}_{v} \tag{4.15}$$

where $(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}$, $(\mathbf{R}_v)^{-1}$ are the inverses of the cross-correlation matrices. The $(KLP \times 1)$ vector \mathbf{Z}_b represents the output of the decorrelator at the base station, defined by

$$\mathbf{Z}_b = \mathbf{H}_b \mathbf{X}_b + (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1} \mathbf{N}_b \tag{4.16}$$

while the $((K-1)LP \times 1))$ vector \mathbf{Z}_{v} represents the output of the decorrelator at the relay (v), given by

$$\mathbf{Z}_{v} = \mathbf{H}_{v}\mathbf{X}_{v} + (\mathbf{R}_{v})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{v}.$$
(4.17)

4.3 Performance Analysis

In this section, an upper bound on the average bit error rate at the base station decorrelator output using DAF cooperative method and considering both cases of perfect and imperfect inter-user channels is derived. For the sake of simplicity, we consider binary phase-shift-keying transmission.

4.3.1 Perfect Inter-user Channels

The decorrelator output in the first transmission phase at the base station can be expressed as

$$[\mathbf{Z}_1]_{b1} = \mathbf{H}_b[\mathbf{X}_1]_{b1} + (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}[\mathbf{N}_1]_{b1}$$

where $[\mathbf{X}_1]_{b1}$ represents the data vector transmitted during the first transmission phase,

$$[\mathbf{X}_{1}]_{b1} = [\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{1}}}S_{1}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{1}}}S_{1}(L)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{K}}}S_{K}(L)]^{T}.$$

Also, the decorrelator output during the relaying phase at the base station for the time slot v can be expressed as

$$[\mathbf{Z}_1]_{b2,v} = \mathbf{H}_b[\mathbf{X}_1]_{b2,v} + (\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}[\mathbf{N}_1]_{b2,v},$$

with $[\mathbf{X}_1]_{b2,v}$ being the data vector transmitted during the v^{th} time slot of the relaying phase,

$$[\mathbf{X}_{1}]_{b2,v} = \left[\sqrt{R_{c}\frac{E_{U_{1}}}{V}}\tilde{S}_{1}^{(v)}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}\frac{E_{U_{1}}}{V}}\tilde{S}_{1}^{(v)}(L)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}\frac{E_{U_{K}}}{V}}\tilde{S}_{K}^{(v)}(1)\cdots\sqrt{R_{c}\frac{E_{U_{K}}}{V}}\tilde{S}_{K}^{(v)}(L)\right]^{T},$$

where $\tilde{S}_{k}^{(v)}(l)$ is the estimate of the l^{th} bit of the active user cooperating with user k during the v^{th} time slot of the relaying phase. The P elements of $[\mathbf{Z}_{1}]_{b1}$ correspond to the decision statistics of the m^{th} bit for user one before RAKE combining, during the first transmission phase, are given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Z}_{1}^{1}(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b1} = \sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{1}}}h_{1b}^{1}(m)S_{1}(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b1}]^{1}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Z}_{1}^{P}(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b1} = \sqrt{R_{c}E_{U_{1}}}h_{1b}^{P}(m)S_{1}(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b1}]^{P}, \quad (4.18)$$

where $[(\mathbf{R}_b)^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b1}]^p$ is the p^{th} entry of the vector, while the VP elements of $[\mathbf{Z}_1]_{b2}$ that represent the contribution of the relaying phase are given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Z}_{1}^{1}(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b2,1} = \sqrt{R_{c}} \frac{E_{U_{f_{1}(1)}}}{V} h_{f_{1}(1)b}^{1}(m) \tilde{S}_{1}(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b2,1}]^{1}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Z}_{1}^{P}(m) \end{bmatrix}_{b2,V} = \sqrt{R_{c}} \frac{E_{U_{f_{V}(1)}}}{V} h_{f_{V}(1)b}^{P}(m) \tilde{S}_{1}(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1} \mathbf{N}_{b2,V}]^{P}. \quad (4.19)$$

Under the assumption of perfect inter-user channels, $\tilde{S}_1(m) = S_1(m)$, and by combining the P(V + 1) elements, the decision statistic of the desired user signal is

$$\dot{S}_{1}(m) = h_{1b}^{1*}(m)[\mathbf{Z}_{1}^{1}(m)]_{b1} + \dots + h_{1b}^{P*}(m)[\mathbf{Z}_{1}^{P}(m)]_{b1} + h_{f_{1}(1)b}^{1*}(m)[\mathbf{Z}_{1}^{1}(m)]_{b2,1} + \dots$$

$$+h_{f_{V}(1)b}^{P*}(m)[\mathbf{Z}_{1}^{P}(m)]_{b2,V}.$$
(4.20)

Assuming that all relays transmit with the same energy $E_{U_1} = E_{U_{f_1(1)}} = \cdots = E_{U_{f_V(1)}}$, one can show that $\dot{S}_1(m)$ is equivalent to

$$\dot{S}_{1}(m) = \left[\sqrt{V}|h_{1b}^{1}(m)|^{2} + \dots + \sqrt{V}|h_{1b}^{P}(m)|^{2} + |h_{f_{1}(1)b}^{1}(m)|^{2} + \dots + |h_{f_{V}(1)b}^{P}(m)|^{2}\right] \\ \sqrt{R_{c}\frac{E_{U_{1}}}{V}}S_{1}(m) + \operatorname{Re}\left\{h_{1b}^{1^{*}}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b1})^{1} + \dots + h_{1b}^{P^{*}}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b1})^{P} + h_{f_{1}(1)b}^{1^{*}}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b2,1})^{1} + \dots + h_{f_{V}(1)b}^{P^{*}}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{b})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{b2,V})^{P}\right\}.$$
(4.21)

4.3.1.1 Conditional Pairwise Probability

The pairwise probability of error can be defined as the number of errors between the received codeword $\hat{\mathbf{S}}_1(m) = [\hat{S}_1^1(m), \hat{S}_1^2(m), \dots, \hat{S}_1^{n_c}(m)]$ and the all zero transmitted codeword. From (4.21), the probability of pairwise error at the base station conditioned on the uplink channel coefficients can be expressed as

$$P_{b_{P}}(d) = Q\left(\frac{\sum_{p=1}^{P}\sqrt{dR_{c}\frac{E_{U_{1}}}{V}}\left(\sqrt{V}|h_{1b}^{p}(m)|^{2} + \sum_{v=1}^{V}|h_{f_{v}(1)b}^{p}(m)|^{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x}^{2}}}\right), \quad (4.22)$$

where

$$\sigma_x^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^P |h_{1b}^p(m)|^2 (R_b)_1^{-2} + \left[\sum_{\nu=1}^V |h_{f_\nu(1)b}^p(m)|^2 (R_b)_{f_\nu(1)}^{-2} \right]$$
(4.23)

and $(R_b)_k^{-1}$ is the sum of the k^{th} row in the inverse of the cross-correlation matrix, and $(R_b)_k^{-2}$ is its squared value. Let us define $\alpha_{1b}^p = |h_{1b}^p(m)|^2$ and $\alpha_{f_v(1)b}^p = |h_{f_v(1)b}^p(m)|^2$. Then α_{1b}^p , $\alpha_{f_v(1)b}^p$ are chi-square distributed with two degrees of freedom with variance σ^2 and characteristic function (3.20). Also, by designating the two parameters $(R_b)_1^{-2}$, $(R_b)_{f_v(1)}^{-2}$, as $C_1, C_{f_v(1)}$, respectively, the noise variance σ_x^2 in (4.23) can be written as

$$\sigma_x^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^P \alpha_{1b}^p C_1 + \left[\sum_{\nu=1}^V \alpha_{f_\nu(1)b}^p C_{f_\nu(1)} \right].$$
(4.24)

Define the variable γ as

$$\gamma = \frac{A}{\sqrt{B}} \tag{4.25}$$

where $A = \sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{V} \alpha_{1b}^{p} + \left\{ \sum_{\nu=1}^{V} \alpha_{f_{\nu}(1)b}^{p} \right\}$ and $B = \sum_{p=1}^{P} \alpha_{1b}^{p} C_{1} + \left\{ \sum_{\nu=1}^{V} \alpha_{f_{\nu}(1)b}^{p} C_{f_{\nu}(1)} \right\}$. By generalizing (4.22), the pairwise conditional probability can be expressed as

$$P_{b_P}(d) = Q\left(\sqrt{\frac{dR_c E_{U_1} \gamma^2}{V\sigma_n^2}}\right).$$
(4.26)

4.3.1.2 Probability Density Function

In order to obtain the pdf of γ , the first step is to determine the joint characteristic function of A and B. Similar to the uncoded single-relay case discussed in chapter 3 (see Appendix A), the joint characteristic function can be expressed as

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P(V+1)} \frac{j}{C_u}}{(2\sigma^2)^{P(V+1)}} \left(\sum_{U=1}^{P(V+1)} \frac{C_{Uk}}{\left(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U}\right)} \right),$$
(4.27)

where $C_{Uk} = \frac{K_U}{y^{P(V+1)-1}}$ is the residue term obtained from the partial fraction, and K_U is a function of the cross-correlation among users. The joint pdf, f(A, B), is then given by

$$f(A,B) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{A,B}(w_1,w_2) \exp^{-jw_1A} \exp^{-jw_2B} dw_1 dw_2.$$
(4.28)

By solving the double integral and letting W = B, we obtain

$$f(\gamma, W) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P(V+1)} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{P(V+1)}} \sum_{U=1}^{P(V+1)} \Psi_U W^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\gamma \sqrt{W} - \frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{P(V+1)-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma \sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^2}\right)}, \quad (4.29)$$

where $\Psi_U = \frac{4\pi^2 K_U}{\Gamma(P(V+1)-1)}$. Hence, one can determine the pdf of the SNR as

$$f(\gamma) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P(V+1)} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{P(V+1)}} \sum_{U=1}^{P(V+1)} \Psi_U R_U(\gamma),$$
(4.30)

where

$$R_U(\gamma) = \int_0^{C_U^2 \gamma^2} W^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\gamma \sqrt{W} - \frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{P(V+1)-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma \sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^2}\right)} dW.$$
(4.31)

Using the binomial series expansion, setting $t = \sqrt{W}$ and expressing (4.31) in terms of confluent hypergeometric function, as shown in Appendix B for the uncoded case we get

$$R_{U}(\gamma) = 2\gamma^{2P(V+1)-1}C_{U}^{P(V+1)+1}\exp^{\left(\frac{-C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right)}\sum_{m=0}^{P(V+1)-2} \begin{pmatrix} P(V+1)-2\\m \end{pmatrix} \\ \left(\frac{(-1)^{P(V+1)-2-m}}{2P(V+1)-m-1}\right){}_{1}F_{1}\left(1;2P(V+1)-m;\frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right).$$
(4.32)

Finally, the pdf of the SNR can be obtained by substituting (4.32) in (4.30).

4.3.1.3 Pairwise Probability of Error

The pairwise probability of error can be obtained by averaging (4.26) over the pdf given in (4.30)

$$P_{b_P}(d) = \int_0^\infty Q(\sqrt{R_c d\delta\gamma^2}) f(\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (4.33)$$

where $\delta = \frac{E_{U_1}}{V\sigma_n^2}$, it can be re-written as

$$P_{b_{P}}(d) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp^{\frac{-R_{c}d\delta\gamma^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\theta}} f(\gamma)d\gamma d\theta$$
$$= \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P(V+1)} \frac{1}{C_{u}}}{4\pi^{3}} \sum_{U=1}^{P(V+1)} \Psi_{U}F_{U}(\delta)$$
(4.34)

with

$$F_{U}(\delta) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^{2})^{P(V+1)}} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp^{\frac{-R_{c}d\delta\gamma^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\theta}} R_{U}(\gamma) d\gamma d\theta$$

= $2C_{U}^{P(V+1)+1} \sum_{m=0}^{P(V+1)-2} \begin{pmatrix} P(V+1)-2 \\ m \end{pmatrix} \frac{(-1)^{P(V+1)-2-m}}{2P(V+1)-1-m} G_{m}(\delta), (4.35)$

and

$$G_{m}(\delta) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^{2})^{P(V+1)}} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \gamma^{2P(V+1)-1} \exp^{-\gamma^{2}(\frac{R_{c}d\delta}{2\sin^{2}\theta} + \frac{C_{U}}{2\sigma^{2}})} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(1; 2P(V+1) - m; \frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right) d\gamma d\theta.$$
(4.36)

Letting $t = \gamma^2$ in (4.36), and using (3.34), (4.36) yields

$$G_{m}(\overline{\delta}) = \frac{\Gamma(P(V+1))}{2(R_{c}dP\overline{\delta})^{P(V+1)}} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} (\sin^{2}\theta)^{P(V+1)}$$

$${}_{2}F_{1}\left(2P(V+1) - m - 1, P(V+1); 2P(V+1) - m; \frac{-C_{U}\sin^{2}\theta}{R_{c}dP\overline{\delta}}\right) d\theta \qquad (4.37)$$

where $\overline{\delta} = \frac{E[|h_{kb}^p(m)|^2]E_{U_1}}{V\sigma_n^2}$. Substituting $V_s = \sin^2\theta$ in (4.37) and using (3.36), we have

$$G_{m}(\overline{\delta}) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{2P(V+1)+1}{2})}{4(P(V+1))(R_{c}dP\overline{\delta})^{P(V+1)}} {}_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{2P(V+1)+1}{2}, 2P(V+1)-m-1, P(V+1); P(V+1)+1, 2P(V+1)-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{R_{c}dP\overline{\delta}}\right).$$

$$(4.38)$$

Finally, using (4.38) and (4.35), the average pairwise probability for V cooperating relays in (4.34) can be evaluated as

$$P_{b_{P}}(d) = \left(\frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P(V+1)} \frac{1}{C_{u}}}{4\pi^{3}}\right) \sum_{U=1}^{P(V+1)} 2\Psi_{U}C_{U}^{P(V+1)+1} \sum_{m=0}^{P(V+1)-2} \begin{pmatrix} P(V+1)-2\\m \end{pmatrix} \\ \left(\frac{(-1)^{P(V+1)-2-m}}{2P(V+1)-1-m}\right) \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{2P(V+1)+1}{2})}{4(P(V+1))(R_{c}dP\overline{\delta}\)^{P(V+1)}}\right) {}_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{2P(V+1)+1}{2}, 2P(V+1)-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{R_{c}dP\overline{\delta}}\right).$$
(4.39)

4.3.1.4 Upper Bound Probability of Bit Error

By obtaining the average pairwise error probability, the upper bound on the probability of bit error can be expressed as [3]

$$P_{e_P} < \frac{1}{m_c} \sum_{d=d_f}^{\infty} c(d) P_{b_P}(d), \qquad (4.40)$$

where d_f is the code's minimum free distance, m_c is the number of information bits shifted to the encoder at the same time instant and c(d) is the sum of errors for error events of distance d [49].

4.3.2 Inter-User Channel Errors

As mentioned earlier, the performance of the cooperative system with perfect interuser channel is not realistic in some cases and can only serve as a lower bound indicating optimal performance. Therefore, here we consider the effect of errors in the inter-user channels where cooperation among users can only take place if the relay detection is error-free. If errors exist, the corresponding relay (cooperating user) stays idle during the second transmission period. First we derive the probability of pairwise error on the inter-user channels (source - relay channels), from which we can express the pairwise probability of error of the overall network.

Without loss of generality, consider the m^{th} bit of user one as the desired bit, the decorrelator outputs at the cooperative user side $f_v(1)$ is given by

$$[\mathbf{Z}_1]_v = \mathbf{H}_v[\mathbf{X}_1]_v + (\mathbf{R}_v)^{-1}[\mathbf{N}_1]_v, \qquad (4.41)$$

where the P elements of Z_1 are

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Z}_{1}^{1}(m) \end{bmatrix}_{v} = \sqrt{R_{c}E_{I_{1v}}}h_{1f_{v}(1)}^{1}(m)S_{1}(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_{v})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{1}]^{1}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Z}_{1}^{P}(m) \end{bmatrix}_{v} = \sqrt{R_{c}E_{I_{1v}}}h_{1f_{v}(1)}^{P}(m)S_{1}(m) + [(\mathbf{R}_{v})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{1}]^{P}.$$
(4.42)

At the output of the RAKE combiner, we have the user data decision statistic

 $\ddot{S}_1(m) = [|h_{1f_v(1)}^1(m)|^2 + \dots + |h_{1f_v(1)}^P(m)|^2]\sqrt{R_c E_{I_{1v}}}S_1(m) +$

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{ [h_{1f_{v}(\mathbf{I})}^{1^{*}}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{v})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{\mathbf{I}})^{1} + \dots + \dots + h_{1f_{v}(\mathbf{I})}^{P^{*}}(m)((\mathbf{R}_{v})^{-1}\mathbf{N}_{\mathbf{I}})^{P} \right\}, (4.43)$$

and the pairwise probability of error over the inter-user channel

$$P_{b_E}(d) = Q\left(\frac{\sum_{p=1}^{P} \sqrt{dR_c E_{I_{1v}}}(|h_{1f_v(1)}^p(m)|^2)}{\sqrt{\sigma_{x_r}^2}}\right),\tag{4.44}$$

where

$$\sigma_{x_r}^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^P |h_{1f_v(1)}^p(m)|^2 (R_v)_1^{-2}$$
(4.45)

and $(R_v)_k^{-2}$ is the square of the sum of the k^{th} row in the inverse of the crosscorrelation matrix. Similar to the case of perfect inter-user channel, we define $\alpha_{1f_v(1)}^p =$ $|h_{1f_v(1)}^p(m)|^2$ with characteristic function given by (3.20). Also, letting $(R_v)_1^{-2} = C_1$, the noise variance $\sigma_{x_r}^2$ can be expressed as

$$\sigma_{x_r}^2 = \sigma_n^2 \sum_{p=1}^P \alpha_{1f_v(1)}^p C_1.$$
(4.46)

Following the same analysis as the perfect case, we define the variable γ_r as

$$\gamma_r = \frac{A_r}{\sqrt{B_r}} \tag{4.47}$$

where $A_r = \sum_{p=1}^P \alpha_{1f_v(1)}^p$ and $B_r = \sum_{p=1}^P \alpha_{1f_v(1)}^p C_1$. Then, it is easy to show that

$$\phi_{A_r,B_r}(w_1,w_2) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{j}{C_u}}{(2\sigma^2)^P} \left(\sum_{U=1}^{P} \frac{C_{Uk_r}}{(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U})} \right)$$
(4.48)

where $C_{Uk_r} = \frac{K_{U_r}}{y^{p-1}}$ is the residue term obtained from the partial fraction and K_{U_r} can be obtained in terms of the cross-correlation among users. The pdf, $f(A_r, B_r)$, is then given by

$$f(A_r, B_r) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^P} \sum_{U=1}^{P} \Psi_{U_r} \left(A_r - \frac{B_r}{C_U}\right)^{P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-A_r}{2\sigma^2}\right)}$$

with $\Psi_{U_r} = \frac{4\pi^2 K_{U_r}}{\Gamma(P)}$, and

$$f(\gamma_r) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^P} \sum_{U=1}^{P} \Psi_{U_r} R_{U_r}(\gamma_r)$$
(4.49)

where

$$R_{U_r}(\gamma_r) = 2\gamma_r^{2P-1}C_U^{P+1}\exp^{(\frac{-C_U\gamma_r^2}{2\sigma^2})}\sum_{m=0}^{P-2} \begin{pmatrix} P-2\\ m \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\frac{(-1)^{P-2-m}}{2P-m-1} F_1\left(1; 2P-m; \frac{C_U\gamma_r^2}{2\sigma^2}\right).$$
(4.50)

The pairwise probability at the relay can then be obtained using (4.44) and (4.49),

$$P_{b_E}(d) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_0^\infty \exp^{\frac{-R_c d\delta_r \gamma r^2}{2\sin^2 \theta}} f(\gamma_r) d\gamma_r d\theta$$
$$= \frac{\prod_{u=1}^P \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^3} \sum_{U=1}^P \Psi_{U_r} F_{U_r}(\overline{\delta}_r)$$
(4.51)

with

$$F_{U_r}(\bar{\delta}_r) = 2C_U^{P+1} \sum_{m=0}^{P-2} {\binom{P-2}{m}} \frac{(-1)^{P-2-m}}{2P-m-1} G_{m_r}(\bar{\delta}_r)$$

where $\overline{\delta}_r = \frac{E\left[|h_{kf_v(k)}^p(m)|^2\right]E_{I_{1v}}}{\sigma_n^2}$ is the average SNR of the inter-user channel, and

$$G_{m_r}(\overline{\delta}_r) = \frac{\Gamma(P)}{2(R_c dP\overline{\delta}_r)^P} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} (\sin^2\theta)^P {}_2F_1\left(2P - m - 1, P; 2P - m; \frac{-C_U \sin^2\theta}{R_c dP\overline{\delta}_r}\right) d\theta.$$
(4.52)

Similar to the perfect case, the average pairwise probability for the inter-user channel can be expressed as

$$P_{b_{E}}(d) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{P} \frac{1}{C_{u}}}{4\pi^{3}} \sum_{U=1}^{P} 2\Psi_{U_{1}}C_{U}^{P+1}$$

$$\sum_{m=0}^{P-2} {\binom{P-2}{m}} \left(\frac{(-1)^{P-2-m}}{2P-m-1}\right) \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{2P+1}{2})}{4(P)(R_{c}dP\bar{\delta}_{r})^{P}}\right)$$

$${}_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{2P+1}{2}, 2P-m-1, P; P+1, 2P-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{R_{c}dP\bar{\delta}_{r}}\right). \quad (4.53)$$

4.3.3 Average Pairwise Probability

Having obtained the pairwise probability at the relay, one can find the average pairwise probability at the base station for the imperfect inter-user channels case as

$$P_{b}(d) = \underbrace{(1 - P_{b_{E}}(d))^{V}(P_{b_{P}}(d))_{V}}_{(1)} + \underbrace{\sum_{n=1}^{V-1} \binom{V}{n} (P_{b_{E}}(d))^{n} (1 - P_{b_{E}}(d))^{V-n} (P_{b_{P}}(d))_{V-n}}_{(2)} + \underbrace{(P_{b_{E}}(d))^{V}(P_{b_{P}}(d))_{0}}_{(3)}.$$
(4.54)

The first term represents the system pairwise probability in case of error-free interuser channels (all V relays are cooperating) with $P_{b_E}(d)$ representing the pairwise probability per inter-user channel given by (4.53) and $(P_{b_P}(d))_V$ is the overall system's pairwise probability with (V) cooperating relays in (4.39). The second term expresses the combination of erroneous and error-free inter-user channels with $(P_{b_P}(d))_{V-n}$ as the overall system's pairwise probability with (V - n) relays, while the third term is the pairwise probability in case of all inter-user channels are in error with $(P_{b_P}(d))_0$ as the pairwise probability for the case of zero cooperating relays (no cooperation).

4.4 Simulation Results

In this section, we present simulation results to assess the performance of a multi-relay coded cooperative system when considering different scenarios. Also, we examine the accuracy of our analytical results obtained in Sec. 4.3. We consider the cooperative diversity spreading scheme described before with one transmit and one receive antennas. A multi-user asynchronous DS-CDMA system with BPSK transmission is assumed where every user data is spread using non-orthogonal Gold codes of length

31 chips. Convolutional coding of rate $\frac{1}{2}$ with constraint length [7,5] is used at both active user and relay sides. For the asynchronous channel, the transmitted frames are 100 bits each, the fading coefficients are fixed for a number of frames and the delay between users, τ_k , is uniformly distributed along the symbol period. We also assume perfect knowledge of the channel coefficients at the base station and the relay. In order to maintain a constant data rate for all cases, the transmitting users in the non-cooperation case will transmit each data bit V times, so that the data rate is the same as the cooperating case.



Figure 4.5: BER performance for a 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA coded network over 2 paths frequency-selective slow fading channels (1 relay cooperation).

In Fig. 4.5, a wireless network using the DAF coded cooperating method is simulated over a 2-path frequency-selective fading channel. The SNR of the interuser channel is assumed to be equal to the uplink channel. The performance of the non-cooperative case is also compared with the perfect and imperfect inter-user channels of a single-relay cooperation. Figure 4.6 shows the performance for the case of 2-relay cooperating network. We can conclude that by increasing the number of cooperating relays per active user, the overall system performance will be able to gain higher cooperative diversity degrees.



Figure 4.6: BER performance for a 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA coded network over 2 paths frequency-selective slow fading channels (2 relays cooperation).

By fixing the inter-user channel SNR, Fig. 4.7 compares the performance of the coded cooperating network for eight users over 2-path slow frequency-selective fading channel. With the overall system performance for the non-cooperative case acting as the upper performance bound, and the perfect inter-user channel as the lower bound, it can be concluded that as the quality of the inter-user channel improves, a remarkable improvement in the system performance can be seen where large diversity

gains achieved. It is shown that the system can achieve the full diversity gain when considering perfect inter-user channels. The results also suggest that, in the presence of MAI at the relay, the overall system performance degrades significantly and no benefit for user cooperation can take place.



Figure 4.7: BER performance for a 8-user asynchronous DS-CDMA network over 2 paths frequency-selective slow fading channels (1 relay cooperation).

Figs. 4.8 and 4.9 show the performance of an eight-user DAF coded cooperating network simulated over a different number of resolvable paths for both the perfect and imperfect inter-user channel, respectively. In these results, the SNR of the inter-user channel is taken to be equal to the uplink channel (i.e., first transmission phase). For the single relay case, one can notice that as the number of paths per channel increases, the network benefits from higher diversity gains. Similarly, for the multi-relay case shown in Figs. 4.10 and 4.11, the overall diversity achieved is (V + 1)P when the inter-user channels are error-free. That is, the overall diversity order of the system is a function of the number of cooperating relays V, and the number of resolvable paths P. In all the above scenarios, the accuracy of our analytical results is quite evident.

4.5 Conclusion

We examined the performance of a multi-relay coded cooperative diversity using DAF method in asynchronous DS-CDMA systems over frequency-selective slow fading channels. In order to mitigate the multi-access interference, decorrelator multiuser detectors have been employed at both the relays and the base station. The performance of the system has been studied, and an exact expression for the pairwise probability of error has been obtained for the case of imperfect and perfect inter-user channels. The impact of erroneous inter-user channels on the overall system performance was also studied, where we have shown that as the quality of the channel gets poorer, the system starts losing the diversity. As a result, we showed that DAF cooperating technique should be integrated with channel coding. Furthermore the impact of the number of cooperating relays have been studied in this work. We have presented and compared the performance of the system for different number of cooperating relays. A trade-off between the system performance and transmission rate was discussed, as the number of relays increases, the system gains higher diversity order, but on the other side the transmission rate starts to decline. Finally, our results show that the diversity gain of a multi-relay DAF cooperating network will mainly depend on the number of cooperating relays, inter-user channels conditions and the number of paths per channel.



Figure 4.8: Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a function of the number of paths for perfect inter-user channels (1 relay cooperation).



Figure 4.9: Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a function of the number of paths for imperfect inter-user channels case (1 relay cooperation).



Figure 4.10: Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a function of the number of paths for perfect inter-user channels case (2 relays cooperation).



Figure 4.11: Performance for an 8-user network with DAF cooperation as a function of the number of paths for imperfect inter-user channels case (2 relays cooperation).

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Future Work

5.1 Conclusions

In this thesis we focused on studying the performance of cooperative diversity techniques over different channel conditions. First, we introduced DAF cooperative diversity to DS-CDMA networks over frequency-selective slow fading channels. Through the thesis, we proved that cooperative networks will start benefiting from the cooperative diversity gains as the inter-user channels condition improves. We studied both extreme cases assuming perfect inter-user channel cooperation and no cooperation case.

In chapter 3, the performance of DAF cooperative networks was analyzed for asynchronous DS-CDMA systems in frequency-selective slow fading environment. We studied the multiple-access interference impact on the performance of the cooperative networks. Both conventional matched filter receivers and decorrelator multiuser detectors were employed at the cooperating relay side and base station. When decorrelator detectors are employed at the relay, the system is immune to the multiple-access interference. It was shown that the conventional receiver becomes almost ineffective due to the fact that the detected signals at both relays and base station will be suffering of high levels of interference. As a result, the performance of the cooperative network employing matched filter receivers at the relays can in some cases be worse than the non-cooperative network. We showed that the full benefits of cooperative diversity cannot be achieved if no multiuser interference suppression is employed at the cooperative end. We considered two scenarios; perfect and imperfect inter-user channel. The bit-error-rate performance of the cooperative system was investigated for an uplink transmission where a decorrelator detector is used at both the relay and base station receivers. Both simulation and analytical results were presented to demonstrate the diversity gains of cooperative networks.

Through chapter 4, multi-relay decode-and forward cooperative transmission employing convolutional coding was studied for the case of asynchronous DS-CDMA systems over frequency-selective slow fading channels. The performance of the network was analyzed for both cases of perfect and imperfect inter-user channels. Decorrelator multiuser detectors were used at both the relay and base station receivers with the advantage of mitigating the multipath fading and multiple-access interference effects. We obtained an expression for the pairwise probability of error, where it was used to evaluate an upper bound on the BER. Moreover, simulation results were presented and compared to the performance analysis, showing that the network will be able to reach the full benefit of cooperation only by accompanying it with some type of channel coding. Also the system's performance was shown to gain more diversity degrees with the increase of the number of cooperating relays per active user. We found that for an active user transmitting to the base station over P paths and cooperating with V relays, the expected diversity degree is P(V + 1).

5.2 Future Work

The following could be an interesting topics for future studies:

- We studied the performance of cooperative networks over frequency-selective slow fading channels. This work could be extended to different channel conditions as fast fading channels, in which the channel state information perfect knowledge assumption is unrealistic.
- 2. We have assumed perfect channel and spreading codes knowledge at the relay side which is not fully practical. Channel estimation is an important aspect of our results. Therefore, a study of the effects of imperfect channel state information on the uncoded and coded systems is of great interest.
- 3. Through the thesis, we assumed random relay selection criteria, but future work can include more advanced criteria in relay selection, depending on the reliability of the (user-relay) and (relay-base station) links.

Bibliography

- L. Venturino, X. Wang, and M. Lops, "Multiuser detection for cooperative networks and performance analysis", *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 3315–3329, Sep. 2006.
- W. J. Huang, Y.-W. Peter Hong, and C.-C Jay Kuo, "Relay-assisted Decorrelating Multiuser Detector (RAD-MUD) for cooperative CDMA Networks", *IEEE J. on Selected Area in Commun.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 550–560, April 2008.
- [3] J. G. Proakis, *Digital communications*, New York:McGraw-Hill, 2001.
- [4] S. M. Alamouti, "A simple transmit diversity technique for wireless communications", *IEEE J. on Selected Area in Commun.*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 1451–1458, Oct. 1998.
- [5] V. Tarokh, N. Seshadri, and A. R. Calderbank, "Space-time codes for high data rate wireless communication: performance criterion and code construction", *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 744–765, March 1998.
- [6] L. Zheng, and D.N.C. Tse, "Diversity and multiplexing: a fundamental tradeoff in multiple-antenna channels", *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 1073–1096, May 2003.

- [7] A. Nosratinia, T. E. Hunter, and A. Hedayat, "Cooperative communication in wireless networks", *IEEE Commun. Magazine*, pp. 74–80, Oct. 2004.
- [8] E.C. van der Meulen, "Transmission of Information in a T-Terminal Discrete Memoryless Channel", Ph.D. dissertation, Dept. of Statistics, University of California, Berkeley, CA, 1968.
- [9] E.C. van der Meulen, "Three-terminal communication channels", Adv. Appl. Probab., vol. 3, pp. 120–154, 1971.
- [10] S. Verdu, Multiuser detection, Cambridge U.K. : Cambridge University, 1998.
- [11] G.J. Foschini, "Layered space-time architecture for wireless communication in a fading environment when using multi-element antennas", *Bell Labs Tech. J.*, vol. 1, no. 2, Autumn 1996.
- H. Huang, H. Viswanathan, and G.J. Foschini, "Multiple Antenna in Cellular CDMA Systems: Transmission, Detection, and Spectral Efficiency", Intern. Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 383–392, July 2002.
- [13] R. L. Choi, R. D. Murch, and K. B. Lataief, "MIMO CDMA Antenna System for SINR Enhancement", *Intern. Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 240–249, March 2003.
- [14] A. Sendonaris, E. Erkip, and B. Aazhang, "User cooperation diversity Part I System description", *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 1927–1938, Nov. 2003.

- [15] A. Sendonaris, E. Erkip, and B. Aazhang, "User cooperation diversity Part II Aspects and performance analysis", *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 1939–1948, Nov. 2003.
- [16] K. Vardhe, D. Reynolds, and M. C. Valenti, "The performance of multi-user cooperative diversity in an asynchronous CDMA uplink", *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 1930–1940, May 2008.
- [17] Z. Xie, R. T. Short, and C. T. Rushfort, "A family of suboptimum detectors for coherent multiuser communications", *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, vol. 8, pp. 683–690, May 1990.
- [18] Y. Cao, and B. Vojcic, "MMSE multiuser detection for cooperative diversity CDMA systems", in *IEEE Commun. society*, Sep. 2004.
- [19] I. Shakya, F. H. Ali, and E. Stipidis, "Performance of Cooperative CDMA with Successive Interference Cancellation", Intern. Conference on Broadband Commun., pp. 377–382, Sep. 2008.
- [20] J. N. Laneman, D. N. C. Tse, and G. W. Wornell, "cooperative diversity in wireless networks: efficient protocols and outage behavior", *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 3062–3080, Dec. 2004.
- [21] R. Lupas, and S. Verdu, "Linear multiuser detectors for synchronous codedivision multiple-access channels", *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 123–136, Jan. 1989.

- [22] U. Javaid, T. Rasheed, D. Meddour, T. Ahmed, and N. R. Prasad, "A novel dimension of cooperation in 4G", *IEEE Technology and Society Magazine*, vol. 27, pp. 29–40, Spring 2008.
- [23] W.W. Lu, B.H. Walke, and S. Xuemin, "Special issue on 4G mobile communication: toward open wireless architecture", *IEEE Wireless Commun.*, vol. 11, no. 2, April 2004.
- [24] Q. Xiuhua, C. Chuanhui, W. Li, "A study of some key technologies of 4G system", Industrial Electronics and Applications, 2008. ICIEA 2008, pp. 2292–2295, June 2008.
- [25] M. Katz, and F. Fitzek, "Cooperative techniques and principles enabling future 4G wireless networks", *Computer as a tool, 2005. EUROCON 2005.*, vol. 1, pp. 21–24, Nov. 2005.
- [26] D. S. Michalopoulos, and G. K. Karagiannidis, "Performance analysis of single relay selection in rayleigh fading", *Intern. Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 751–772, Oct. 2008.
- [27] S. Wei, D. L. Goeckel, and M. C. Valenti, "Asynchronous cooperative diversity", *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 1547–1557, June 2006.
- [28] T. E. Hunter, and A. Nosratinia, "Cooperative diversity through coding", IEEE Intern. Symposium on Inform. Theory (ISIT), Laussane, Switzerland, p. 220, July 2002.

- [29] T. E. Hunter, and A. Nosratinia, "Diversity through coded cooperation", IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 283–289, Feb. 2006.
- [30] R. Krishna, Z. Xiong, and S. Lambotharan, "A cooperative MMSE relay strategy for wireless sensor networks", *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, vol. 15, pp. 548– 552, 2008.
- [31] O. Oyman, and F. Xue, "Antenna selection, diversity coding and spatial multiplexing in cooperative wireless networks", *IEEE ACSSC 2007*, pp. 814–818, Nov. 2007.
- [32] M. Yuksel, and E. Erkip, "Broadcast strategies for the fading relay channel", Proc. IEEE Mil. Commun. Conference., Monterey, CA, vol. 2, pp. 1060–1065, Oct. 2004.
- [33] C. K. Lo, S. Vishwanath, and R. W. Heath, Jr., "Relay subset selection in wireless networks using partial decode-and-forward transmission", *IEEE Trans.* on Vehicular Tech., vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 692–704, Feb. 2009.
- [34] A. Assra, W. Hamouda, and A. Youssef, "Performance of space-time diversity in CDMA over frequency-selective fading channels", *IEEE GLOBECOM*, pp. 1514–1518, Nov. 2007.
- [35] I.S. Gradshteyn, and I.M. Ryzhik, Table of Integrals, Series and Products, Academic Press, 2007.
- [36] Y. Cao, and B. Vojcic, "Cooperative coding using serial concatenated convolutional codes", *IEEE Commun. Society*, vol. 2, pp. 1001–1006, March 2005.

- [37] J. Lin, and A. Stefanov, "Coded cooperative for OFDM systems", Intern. conference on wireless networks, commun. and mobile computing, vol. 1, pp. 7-10, June 2005.
- [38] R. Wang, and G. Ginnakis, "Complex field coding in multi-source cooperative networks for full diversity", *IEEE Intern. Conference*, vol. 10, pp. 4485–4488, June 2006.
- [39] T. E. Hunter, and A. Nosratinia, "Performance analysis of coded cooperation diversity", *IEEE Intern. Conference on Commun. (ICC)*, May 2003.
- [40] M. Janani, A. Hedayat, T. E. Hunter, and A. Nosratinia, "Coded cooperation in wireless communications:channel conditions. space-time transmission and iterative decoding", *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 362–371, Feb. 2004.
- [41] F. Alazem, J. Frigon, and D. Haccoun, "Adaptive coded cooperation in wireless networks", Intern. Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. 7, pp. 574–583, Feb. 2008.
- [42] L. L. Xie, and P.R. Kumar, "Multisource, multidestination, multirelay wireless networks", *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, vol. 53, no. 10, pp. 3586–3595, Oct. 2007.
- [43] M. Kaneko, K. Hayashi, P. Popovski, K. Ikeda, H. Sakai, and R. Prasad, "Amplify-and-forward cooperative diversity schemes for multi-carrier systems", *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 1845–1850, May 2008.
- [44] M. Elfituri, W. Hamouda, and A. Ghrayeb, "A convolutional-based distributed coded cooperation scheme for relay channels", *IEEE Trans. Vehicular Tech.*, vol. 57, May 2008.
- [45] M. Elfituri, W. Hamouda, and A. Ghrayeb, "Antenna/Relay selection for coded wireless cooperative networks", *IEEE Intern. Conference on Commun. (ICC)*, vol. 7, pp. 840–844, May 2008.
- [46] P. Razaghi, and W. Yu, "Parity forwarding for multiple-relay networks", IEEE Trans. on Inform. Theory, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 158–173, Jan. 2009.
- [47] M. Elfituri, W. Hamouda, and A. Ghrayeb, "A convolutional-based distributed coded cooperation scheme for relay channels", *IEEE Trans. on Vehicular Tech.*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 655–669, Feb. 2009.
- [48] A. J. Viterbi, "Convolutional codes and their performance in communication systems", *IEEE Trans. Commun. Tech.*, vol. 19, pp. 751–772, Oct. 1971.
- [49] J.-J. Chang, D.-J. Hwang, and M.-C. Lin, "Some extended results on the search for good convolutional codes", *IEEE Trans. on Inform. Theory*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 655–669, Sep. 1997.
- [50] O. Brugia, "A noniterative method for the partial fraction expansion of a rational function with high order poles", Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 381–387, July 1965.
- [51] M. Abramowitz, and I.A. Stegun, Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs and Mathematical Tables, New York:Dover, 1964.

Appendices

APPENDIX A

In order to obtain the pdf of γ , the first step is to determine the joint characteristic function of A and B as follows

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = E\left[\exp^{j(w_1A + w_2B)}\right],$$
(A-1)

where E[.] is the expected value of the enclosed argument. Equation (A-1) can be rewritten with respect to α and C as

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = E\left[\exp^{j\sum_{p=1}^{P}\alpha_{1b}^p(w_1 + w_2C_1)} \cdot \exp^{j\sum_{p=1}^{P}\alpha_{f(1)b}^p(w_1 + w_2C_{f(1)})}\right].$$
 (A-2)

Letting $y = \frac{1}{2\sigma^2} - jw_1$, and assuming independent fading channels, we can show that

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = \prod_{p=1}^{P} E\left[\exp^{j\alpha_{1b}^p(w_1 + w_2C_1)}\right] E\left[\exp^{j\alpha_{f(1)b}^p(w_1 + w_2C_{f(1)})}\right].$$
 (A-3)

As α_{1b}^p and $\alpha_{f(1)b}^p$ are chi-square distributed each with two degrees of freedom, and using the characteristic function in (3.20), the joint characteristic function of A and B can be expressed as

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \prod_{p=1}^{P} \frac{1}{(y - jC_1 w_2)(y - jC_{f(1)} w_2)},$$
 (A-4)

or equivalently as

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \prod_{U=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{(y - jC_U w_2)}.$$
(A-5)

In order to simplify the analysis, we will use a partial fraction expansion of a rational function with high order poles method [50]. Equation (A-5) can be simplified to

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{j}{C_u}}{(2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \prod_{U=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U})}.$$
 (A-6)

Consider Z a proper rational function having no zeros and 2P poles $\frac{y}{jC_U}$

$$Z(w_1, w_2) = \prod_{U=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{\left(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U}\right)}.$$
 (A-7)

Using [eq.(1) in [50]],

$$Z(w_1, w_2) = \sum_{U=1}^{2P} \frac{C_{Uk}}{\left(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U}\right)},$$
(A-8)

where C_{Uk} represents the expansion coefficients. The characteristic function in (A-5) can be simplified to

$$\phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{j}{C_u}}{(2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \left(\sum_{U=1}^{2P} \frac{C_{Uk}}{\left(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U}\right)} \right),$$
(A-9)

where $C_{Uk} = \frac{K_U}{y^{2P-1}}$ is the residue term obtained from the partial fraction, and K_U is a function of the cross-correlations among users. The pdf, f(A, B), is then given by

$$f(A,B) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_{A,B}(w_1, w_2) \exp^{-jw_1 A} \exp^{-jw_2 B} dw_1 dw_2$$

= $\frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{j}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \sum_{U=1}^{2P} K_U I_U,$ (A-10)

where

$$I_U(A,B) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp^{-jw_1 A}}{y^{2P}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp^{-jw_2 B}}{\left(w_2 - \frac{y}{jC_U}\right)} dw_2 \ dw_1.$$
(A-11)

By solving the double integral, we can find that

$$I_U(A,B) = \frac{4\pi^2}{j\Gamma(2P-1)} \left(A - \frac{B}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-A}{2\sigma^2}\right)},$$
 (A-12)

where $\Gamma(.)$ represents gamma function. Hence, f(A, B) is given by

$$f(A,B) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \sum_{U=1}^{2P} \Psi_U \left(A - \frac{B}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-A}{2\sigma^2}\right)},$$
(A-13)

where $\Psi_U = \frac{4\pi^2 K_U}{\Gamma(2P-1)}$. Letting W = B, the pdf of γ and W as defined in (3.22) can be obtained from the relation $f(\gamma, W) = f(A, B)|\Omega(\gamma, W)|$ where $\Omega(\gamma, W) = \sqrt{W}$ is the Jacobian of the transformation. By substitution of (A-13) in this relation, we obtain

$$f(\gamma, W) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \sum_{U=1}^{2P} \Psi_U W^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\gamma \sqrt{W} - \frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma\sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^2}\right)}.$$
 (A-14)

Appendix B

We can determine the pdf of the SNR from equation (A-14) as follow

$$f(\gamma) = \frac{\prod_{u=1}^{2P} \frac{1}{C_u}}{4\pi^2 (2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \sum_{U=1}^{2P} \Psi_U R_U(\gamma),$$
(B-1)

where

$$R_U(\gamma) = \int_0^{C_U^2 \gamma^2} W^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\gamma \sqrt{W} - \frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma \sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^2}\right)} dW.$$
(B-2)

Assume $X_1 = \left(\gamma \sqrt{W} - \frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2}$, then

$$X_1 = (-1)^{2P-2} \left(\frac{W}{C_U}\right)^{2P-2} \left(1 - \frac{\gamma \ C_U}{\sqrt{W}}\right)^{2P-2}.$$
 (B-3)

Using binomial series, we can show that

$$X_{1} = (-1)^{2P-2} \left(\frac{W}{C_{U}}\right)^{2P-2} \left[1 + (2P-2)\left(-\gamma C_{U}\frac{1}{\sqrt{W}}\right) + \frac{(2P-2)(2P-3)}{2!}\left(-\gamma C_{U}\frac{1}{\sqrt{W}}\right)^{2} + \cdots,$$
(B-4)

or equivalently

$$X_{1} = (-1)^{2P-2} \left(\frac{W}{C_{U}}\right)^{2P-2} \sum_{m=0}^{2P-2} \begin{pmatrix} 2P-2\\ m \end{pmatrix} (-1)^{-m} \gamma^{m} C_{U}^{m} \left(\sqrt{W}\right)^{-m}.$$
 (B-5)

Then $R_U(\gamma)$ can be expressed as

$$R_{U}(\gamma) = \sum_{m=0}^{2P-2} {\binom{2P-2}{m}} (-1)^{2P-2-m} \frac{\gamma^{m}}{C_{U}^{2P-2-m}} \int_{0}^{C_{U}^{2}\gamma^{2}} \left(\sqrt{W}\right)^{4P-3-m} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma\sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right)} dW.$$
(B-6)

In what follows, we let

$$II_{U}(\gamma) = \int_{0}^{C_{U}^{2}\gamma^{2}} \left(\sqrt{W}\right)^{4P-3-m} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma\sqrt{W}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right)} dW, \tag{B-7}$$

and use [35]

$$\int_{C_1}^{C_2} x^n \exp^{-ax} dx = \frac{1}{a(n+1)} C_2^n (aC_2)^{\frac{-n}{2}} \exp^{\left(\frac{-aC_2}{2}\right)} M\left(\frac{n}{2}, \frac{n+1}{2}, aC_2\right) - C_1^n (aC_1)^{\left(\frac{-n}{2}\right)} \exp^{\left(\frac{-aC_1}{2}\right)} M\left(\frac{n}{2}, \frac{n+1}{2}, aC_1\right)],$$
(B-8)

where M(k,m,z) represents the WhittakerM function [51]

$$M(k,m,z) = z^{\frac{1}{2}+m} \exp^{-\frac{z}{2}} \left[1 + \frac{\frac{1}{2}+m-k}{1!(2m+1)}z + \dots + \frac{(\frac{1}{2}+m-k)(\frac{3}{2}+m-k)}{2!(2m+1)(2m+2)}z^2 + \dots\right].$$
 (B-9)

Now, by setting $t = \sqrt{W}$ in (B-7), we get

$$II_{U}(\gamma) = 2 \int_{0}^{C_{U}\gamma} t^{4P-2-m} \exp^{\left(\frac{-\gamma t}{2\sigma^{2}}\right)} dt$$

$$= \frac{2^{2P-\frac{m}{2}+1}\sigma^{4P-m}C_{U}^{2P-1-\frac{m}{2}}}{\gamma(4P-1-m)} \exp^{\left(\frac{-C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{4\sigma^{2}}\right)} M\left(\frac{4P-2-m}{2}, \frac{4P-1-m}{2}, \frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right).$$
(B-10)

One can then express (B-10) in terms of confluent hypergeometric function using [35]

$$M(k,m,z) = z^{\frac{1}{2}+m} \exp^{\left(\frac{-z}{2}\right)} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(m-k+\frac{1}{2};1+2m;z\right),$$
(B-11)

where

$$_{1}F_{1}(a;b;z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{n} z^{n}}{(b)_{n} n!}$$

is the confluent hypergeometric function and $(a)_n, (b)_n$ are pochhammer symbols. Hence

$$II_{U}(\gamma) = \frac{2(\gamma C_{U})^{4P-m-1}}{4P-m-1} \exp^{\left(\frac{-C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right)} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(1; 4P-m; \frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right),$$
(B-12)

and by substitution in (B-6),

$$R_{U}(\gamma) = 2\gamma^{4P-1}C_{U}^{2P+1}\exp^{\left(\frac{-C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right)}\sum_{m=0}^{2P-2} \binom{2P-2}{m} \left(\frac{(-1)^{2P-2-m}}{4P-m-1}\right)$$

$${}_{1}F_{1}\left(1;4P-m;\frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right).$$
(B-13)

Finally, the pdf of the SNR can be obtained by substituting (B-13) in (B-1).

Appendix C

Using [35]

$$\int_0^\infty \exp^{-st} t^{b-1} {}_1F_1(a;c;kt)dt = \Gamma(b)(s-k)^{-b} {}_2F_1\left(c-a,b;c;\frac{k}{k-s}\right), \qquad (C-1)$$

we can solve the integral

$$G_{m}(\delta) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^{2})^{2P}} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \gamma^{4P-1} \exp^{-\gamma^{2}(\frac{\delta}{2\sin^{2}\theta} + \frac{C_{U}}{2\sigma^{2}})} {}_{1}F_{1}\left(1; 4P - m; \frac{C_{U}\gamma^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}\right) d\gamma d\theta.$$
(C-2)

Let $t = \gamma^2$, $s = \frac{\delta}{2\sin^2\theta} + \frac{C_U}{2\sigma^2}$, a = 1, c = 4P - m, $k = \frac{C_U}{2\sigma^2}$, and b = 2P, then

$$G_m(\delta) = \frac{1}{2(2\sigma^2)^{2P}} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \int_0^{\infty} t^{b-1} \exp^{(-ts)} {}_1F_1(a;c;kt) dt d\theta.$$
(C-3)

Using (C-1), we can integrate (C-3) with respect to t

$$G_m(\overline{\delta}) = \frac{\Gamma(2P)}{2(P\overline{\delta})^{2P}} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} (\sin^2\theta)^{2P} {}_2F_1\left(4P - m - 1, 2P; 4P - m; \frac{-C_U \sin^2\theta}{(P\overline{\delta})}\right) d\theta,$$
(C-4)

where $\overline{\delta}$ is the average SNR of the channel. Define $x = \sin^2 \theta$

$$G_{m}(\overline{\delta}) = \frac{\Gamma(2P)}{4(P\overline{\delta})^{2P}} \int_{0}^{1} (1-x)^{-\frac{1}{2}} x^{2P-\frac{1}{2}} \\ {}_{2}F_{1}\left(4P-m-1, 2P; 4P-m; \frac{-C_{U}x}{(P\overline{\delta})}\right) dx.$$
(C-5)

From [eq. (7.512.12) [35]]

.

$$\int_{0}^{1} (1-x)^{u-1} x^{v-1} {}_{p}F_{q}(a_{1},...,a_{p};b_{1},...,b_{q};ax)dx$$

= $\frac{\Gamma(u)\Gamma(v)}{\Gamma(u+v)}{}_{p+1}F_{q+1}(v,a_{1},...,a_{p};u+v,b_{1},...,b_{q};a)$ (C-6)

the integral (C-5) can be solved as

$$G_{m}(\overline{\delta}) = \left(\frac{\Gamma(2P)}{4(P\overline{\delta})^{2P}}\right) \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{4P+1}{2})}{\Gamma(2P+1)}\right)$$

$${}_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{4P+1}{2}, 4P-m-1, 2P; 2P+1, 4P-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{(P\overline{\delta})}\right). \quad (C-7)$$

From $\Gamma(.)$ properties, $\Gamma(2P+1) = 2P \ \Gamma(2P)$, and (C-7) can be rewritten as

$$G_{m}(\overline{\delta}) = \left(\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{4P+1}{2})}{8P(P\overline{\delta})^{2P}}\right)$$

$${}_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{4P+1}{2}, 4P-m-1, 2P; 2P+1, 4P-m; \frac{-C_{U}}{(P\overline{\delta})}\right). \quad (C-8)$$